

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Differentiated Instruction in Middle School Inclusion Classrooms to Support Special Education Students

LaToya Keyona Benjamin Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

LaToya Keyona Benjamin

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Sunddip Aguilar, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Jesse Richter, Committee Member, Education Faculty Dr. Karen Hunt, University Reviewer, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2019

Abstract

Differentiated Instruction in Middle School Inclusion Classrooms to Support

Special Education Students

by

LaToya Keyona Benjamin

M.Ed., Walden University, 2014

BS, Virginia State University, 2002

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

December 2019

Abstract

Differentiated instruction (DI) research has shown many benefits of implementing instructional practices within an inclusive classroom. However, many teachers do not utilize this instructional practice regularly. An instrumental qualitative case study design that included teachers from one middle school in a rural school district in a southeastern state was used in this study to explore rural middle school teachers' experiences with incorporating the components of DI to support special education students in an inclusion classroom. The challenges faced when incorporating DI were also examined. Tomlinson's model of differentiated instruction framed this study, as it explores the need for teachers to provide responsive instruction to meet the needs of each of their students, regardless of a student's ability. A purposeful sample of 10 middle school teachers' Grades 6–8 from various content areas participated in an interview, an instructional observation, and submitted documents for review. Inductive analysis was used to analyze data of teacher use of DI components, and hand-coding was used to identify emerging thematic relationships and patterns. When asked about incorporating the components of DI to support special education students within an inclusion-based classroom, participants revealed concerns with class size, lack of resources, knowledge/preparation, and professional development. Based on the results, a 3 full day program was created as a project to incorporate DI into improve middle school inclusion-based classrooms for all content teachers. The program may contribute to positive social change by helping middle school teachers use the components of DI in their inclusion-based classes providing support to increase academic success for special education students.

Differentiated Instruction in Middle School Inclusion Classrooms to Support

Special Education Students

by

LaToya Keyona Benjamin

M.Ed., Walden University, 2014

BS, Virginia State University, 2002

Project Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

December 2019

Dedication

I dedicate this study to my parents, Paulette Potts and Vernon Benjamin, Sr. Both have been super supportive and encouraging me to push through even when I felt like giving up. I appreciate you wanting to babysit my girls providing me some personal time to write or picking my girls for school. For that, I love you.

I also would like to dedicate this study to my stepfather, Marcus Potts, Sr. who battled lung cancer for several years. It was my goal to complete this program while he was here to see my greatest educational accomplishment. Unfortunately, he lost his fight. However, his presence will always be with me inspiring me to do great work. He will always be my angel watching over me!

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my committee members, Dr. Sunddip Aguilar, Dr. Jesse Richter, and Dr. Karen Hunt, who were instrumental in making my dream come true. I would also like to thank Dr. Jessica Parker, Dr. Veronica Richard, and Dr. Mike Laverty for their continuous encouragement and motivation throughout this journey. I would also like to thank my dear friend and sister Dr. Kerrie Hass who has been my right hand from the start of this doctoral journey to the end. We did this!

Finally, I would like to thank my beautiful girls, Adriane and Tameika Stowers. Thank you for being patient while G-Ma wrote her long paper. I love you.

List of Tables	V
List of Figures	vi
Section 1: The Problem	1
Introduction	1
The Local Problem	4
Rationale	5
Local Evidence	5
Evidence from Literature	7
Purpose Statement	8
Definition of Terms	9
Significance of the Study	11
Research Questions	12
Review of the Literature	13
Conceptual Framework	14
Differentiated Instruction Model	14
Current Literature	16
Implementing Differentiated Instruction	16
Strategies for Implementing Differentiated Instruction	
Differentiated Instruction and Student Achievement	22
Lack of Training in Differentiated Instruction	24
Teacher Self–Efficacy and Differentiated Instruction	27
Implications	

Table of Contents

Summary	
Section 2: The Methodology	31
Case Study Research Design and Approach	32
Setting and Sample	34
Data Collection Strategies	
Data Collection Instruments	39
Interview Protocol	41
Conducting the Interviews	43
Observation Protocol	44
Conducting the Observations	45
Review of Documents Protocol	45
Conducting the Review of Documents	46
Researcher's Role and Bias	46
Data Analysis	47
Validity of Data	51
Coding of Data	52
Accuracy and Credibility	52
Discrepant Cases	53
Limitations	54
Data Analysis Results	55
Interview Data	55
Data Collection Process	55
Interviews	56

How and When Data Was Analyzed	57
Patterns and Themes	58
Observation Data	73
Data Collection Process	73
Observations	74
Findings Connected to the Problem Statement and Research Questions	74
Review of Documents Data	77
Data Collection Process	77
Review of Documents	77
Findings Connected to the Problem Statement and Research Questions	78
Thematic Patterns Between Data Sources	88
Conclusion	90
Section 3: The Project	92
Introduction	92
Rationale	93
Review of the Literature	95
Project Description	100
Project Evaluation Plan	104
Key Stakeholders	105
Project Implications Including Social Change	106
Conclusion	107
Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions	109
Project Strengths	109

Limitations	
Recommendations for Alternative Approaches11	
Scholarship112	
Reflection on Importance of the Work114	
Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research114	
Conclusion110	
References117	
Appendix A: The Project	
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	
Appendix C: Observation Checklist Protocol179	
Appendix D: Review of Artifacts Protocol	

List of Tables

Table 1	Teacher Demographi	c Information,	Experience,	Class Size,	Number of SPED)
stu	dents, and Course (s)	Taught				60

List of Figures

Figure 1.Teacher H Review of Documents (Lesson Plans)	79
Figure 2. Teacher H Review of Documents (Lesson Plans)	79
Figure 3.Teacher F Review of Documents (Lesson Plans)	80
Figure 4. Teacher B Review of Documents (Classwork/Worksheet)	82
Figure 5. Teacher G Review of Documents (Classwork/Worksheet)	82
Figure 6. Teacher G Review of Documents (Classwork/Worksheet)	83
Figure 7. Teacher Review of Documents (Assessment)	85
Figure 8. Review of Documents (Assessment)	86
Figure 9. Teacher C Review of Document (Assessment)	86
Figure 10. Teacher J Review of Documents (Assessment)	87

Section 1: The Problem

Introduction

In the United States (U.S.), schools continue to experience rapid and regular changes in their curriculum (McShane & Eden, 2015; National Center for Education Statistics [NCES], 2017). According to Wiles and Bondi (2015), the changes within the curriculum require teachers to possess the skill set and knowledge to implement instruction with fidelity and to ensure that all students receive a quality education. This may improve teacher efficacy which may impact their delivery and purpose of the material they are using for effective implementation (American Institute for Research [AIR], 2016; Early, Rogge & Deci, 2014). Whether curriculum is delivered consistently, effectively, and with the efficacy necessary for supporting student achievement is contingent on the centralization of teachers, or the teacher's ability to make decisions about the content being delivered, the process by which the content is delivered, and the product by which student mastery is assessed (Lochner, Conrad, & Graham, 2015).

The introduction of new laws, mandates, and standardized assessments create an ever-changing pedagogical environment in education (Avery 2017; Pham, 2012). A new initiative, Every Student Succeeds Act (Every Student Succeeds Act [ESSA], 2015) was signed into legislation to support academic success. ESSA replaced the highly controversial No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act (2002), a federal mandate which required all states to administer standardized assessments to students in grades three through 10 to determine grade-level proficiency. Under NCLB, all students were required to achieve grade-level proficiency by the 2013–14 school year; however, the

standardization of education, providing a one size fits all education for students, did not offer students within population subgroups, such as English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) and students with learning disabilities, the opportunity to be successful. ESSA embodies the nation's commitment that every child in grades K–12 is afforded an equal and quality education despite their gender, ethnicity, or disability (Darrow, 2016). According to Darrow (2016), students' progress and mastery were measured only by way of standardized testing under NCLB. There is more accountability on the district and state levels rather than from the federal government regarding testing under ESSA. Like NCLB, ESSA follows the accommodations and guidelines put in place by the Individual with Disabilities Act (Individual with Disabilities Act [IDEA], 2004) passed in 2004 (Darrow, 2016).

The implementation of this act mandated that students with special needs be placed in the least restricted environment (LRE) for learning (Bichehouse & Faieta, 2016; IDEA, 2004). According to IDEA, the LRE for many students is a general education classroom setting, where students with special needs are included with nondisabled students within the same classroom environment. This is also known as inclusion. According to Forrester (2016), inclusion is an environment that allows students with disabilities to be placed in an educational setting with their nondisabled counterparts. However, the problem with this model of inclusion is that regular classroom teachers lack the training and knowledge to teach effectively in an inclusion setting (SPED lead teacher, personal communication, August 22, 2016). An increase in teacher responsibility, inadequate teacher preparation, a lack of pedagogical skills, and teacher attitudes and dispositions have an impact on the success of the implementation of inclusive practices within a classroom setting (Florian & Beaton, 2017).

The National Center for Educational Statistics reported 95% of students with disabilities (as defined by the IDEA) are placed in an inclusive classroom, and approximately 40% are placed in general education classrooms (U.S. Department of Education, n.d.). Steinmeyer (2011) stated an inclusion setting provides best practices for students with disabilities to become successful. During the 2015–2016 school year, the South Carolina (SC) Department of Education Office of Special Education reported that approximately 55% of students with individualized educational plans (IEPs) included in general education classrooms at the South Carolina school district were not achieving at high levels academically (SC Department of Education, 2015). Hall, Strangman, and Meyer (2003) suggested that one effective way educators could provide support to SPED students in an inclusion class is through the implementation of differentiated instruction (DI).

DI has been the bridge in meeting the diverse needs of students to increase student learning, as well as influencing teacher effectiveness as measured by student achievement (Prince, 2016). According to Tomlinson and Imbeau (2010), teachers should use a plethora of instructional strategies to address the influx of children from various backgrounds and cultures. DI is one approach toward accomplishing the task of educating all students. However, the problem lies in teacher preparedness and the understanding of DI strategies regarding content, process and product of learning, as well as the effects of DI on student achievement. The challenges of implementing DI was the foundation of this study. Unless the affective domain of DI is addressed in inclusive classrooms, there may be a gap in teachers' instructional practices that could hinder the achievement of students with special needs (Special education teacher, personal communication, August 18, 2018; Dixion et al., 2014).

The Local Problem

At a rural middle school in South Carolina, within the school district where I conducted this study, there is a problem with middle school teachers using the components of DI within inclusive classrooms. At local rural middle schools within the district, general education teachers are asked to incorporate DI within their classrooms to help close the instructional gap for mixed-leveled learners in inclusion classes. However, it is not known how the components of DI are used to support special education students in an inclusive class. According to Deason (2014), educators, general education, and special education teachers should be equipped with instructional strategies that address the learning needs of students with unique needs. According to the school administrators, an evaluation of the teachers' abilities to implement DI has not been a focal point (Principal, personal communication, August 22, 2016; SPED lead teacher, personal communication, February 18, 2017). General education teachers reported that special education students, just as general education students, are expected to learn and know the state standards by the end of the school year. According to the State of South Carolina, the special education students' achievement level in mastering the state standards has fallen behind when compared to general education students (SC Department of Education, 2017). The strategies that teachers use to implement DI in inclusion classes

and the effects of its implementation on student achievement have never been assessed (Principal, personal communication, August 22, 2016; SPED lead teacher, personal communication, February 18, 2017). As teachers' knowledge of best instructional practices evolves, they should focus on increasing student performance for all levels of learners. According to researchers, DI is one of the best practices that teachers can implement within their instruction to meet the needs of diverse learners, and consequently, increase student achievement (Avery, 2017; Levy, 2008; Prince, 2016). In addition, DI provides students with disabilities access to the same curriculum and standards as their nondisabled peers (Tobin & Triplett, 2014).

Rationale

Local Evidence

According to the South Carolina Department of Education (2016), approximately 100 students (or approximately 20% of the student population) at a South Carolina middle school are classified as SPED students. Out of the 100 students, 60 students, or 60%, were mainstreamed into an inclusive classroom (SPED lead teacher, personal communication, September 7, 2016; County Data System, 2016). The data from teacher assessments and term report cards indicated a decline in achievement amongst the SPED students within inclusive classrooms (SPED lead teacher, personal communication, Oct. 10, 2016; County Data System, 2016). In addition, IEP reports showed that approximately 30% of students who received SPED services earned below–average grades in one or more of their core classes each quarter (County Data System, 2016). The percentage of general education students who received below–average grades in core

subjects was less than 10% (County Data System, 2016). There is a discrepancy in the level of achievement between SPED students and general education students, which may be an indication that students with learning disabilities are not receiving instruction in the general education classes to meet their individualized learning needs.

The South Carolina Palmetto Assessment of State Standards (SCPASS) scores indicated minimal progress in the academic performance of special education students who participated in inclusion classes at the local school (District, 2016). According to SCPASS student reports, an estimated 25% of special education students (having an IEP) at the local school have consistently scored substantially below the average 25th national percentile score in core subject areas (District, 2016). However, the general education students' scores ranged between the 65th and 70th percentiles in the core subject areas (District, 2016).

According to staff meetings and professional development surveys, teachers concluded that student scores dropped due to teachers' lack of understanding of how to meet the needs of their SPED students within an inclusive setting (Principal, personal communication, January 16, 2017). The SPED lead teacher at the local school district recorded in the meeting minutes that SPED students who have been included in a general education classroom needed more instructional support, in addition to the accommodation requirements presented in their IEP. In addition, the meeting minutes stated many teachers struggled with reaching their SPED students who have been included in general education classrooms. In faculty meeting minutes and grade level meeting minutes, many of the general education teachers noted that they were not equipped with the instructional strategies needed to increase the academic success of their SPED students (Special education lead teacher, personal communication, April 25, 2016).

Evidence from Literature

There is a plethora of research on DI. The research reveals an achievement gap between general education and special needs students which can be reduced with effectively implementing DI within an inclusive classroom (Royster et al., 2014; Santangelo & Tomlinson, 2009). Avery (2017) cited that DI is one of the most common instructional strategies used to bridge the achievement gap and meet the individual learning needs of each student based on where they are academically. Nicolae (2014) conveyed that the implementation of DI is meant to bridge the gap between teaching and learning, allowing all students to learn. Dixion et al. (2014) suggest that DI is a philosophy that focuses on what each student needs to be successful academically. In addition, DI forces teachers to think more critically about pedagogy (Dixion et al., 2014). Rachmawati, Widiasmara, and Wibisono (2016) stated that DI is an appropriate practice to increase learning outcomes for special education students because it allows teachers to respond to diverse learning, creating a positive influence on students.

The results of two studies suggested that the implementation of DI increased student achievement and motivation for learning among students (Billingsley, 2016; DeJesus, 2012; Perilli, 2011; Pham, 2012). However, research shows that approximately 84% of students were not being exposed to DI within their inclusion classrooms (Lunsford, 2017; Latz, Speir Neumeister, Adams, & Pierce, 2009). According to Dixion et al. (2014), teachers who do not adapt to changes in instructional practices within their classrooms, or who are incapable of doing so, will struggle with implementing DI. In the local setting, teachers report struggling with the implementation of DI due to the lack of training needed to effectively incorporate DI to meet the needs of the SPED students in inclusive classes.

With the increase in SPED students in general education classrooms, it is crucial that general education teachers are equipped with tools and strategies to provide effective instruction in an inclusive classroom (Blanton et al., 2014). Therefore, it is required that general education teachers become proactive, seeking training, to serve students with learning disabilities (McCray & McHatton, 2011). It was reported that teachers who were more knowledgeable and received training were more accepting of SPED students in a general education classroom (Ejiken, 2015).

Research suggests that DI improves the possibility of academic success for diverse students (Alexander, 2014). According to current literature, the use of DI creates independent, responsible, and confident learners. Moreover, it moves students toward academic achievement by meeting their individual needs (Avery, 2017; Logan, 2011; Tomlinson, 2014).

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative instrumental case study was to explore rural middle school teachers' experiences with incorporating the components of DI with special education students in an inclusion classroom. To address the problem, I conducted an instrumental case study to explore the knowledge and implementation of DI by middle school teachers and its effect on student achievement. Case studies, in general, provide an in-depth understanding of a real-life phenomenon (Kaur, Norman, & Awang-Hashim, 2016; Merriam, 2009). However, an instrumental case study individualizes an issue, providing an understanding of strategies and practices that are used within a classroom setting (Kaur et al., 2015). To investigate the problem, I used interviews, observations, and an analysis of documents (i.e., lesson plans, assessments, etc.) to determine teachers' knowledge of the implementation of DI, how it was implemented in inclusion classrooms, and its effect on student achievement at the school of study. An increased understanding of this issue would be valuable for Green County (pseudonym) to reinforce the importance of middle school teachers' implementation of DI to teach students who have been placed in an inclusive classroom setting. This research may potentially fill a gap in professional practice; specifically, it may illuminate the difference between what appears in the literature about what should be happening in inclusive general education classes and what may not be happening.

Definition of Terms

Curriculum: A blueprint for facilitating student learning to achieve specific goals and objectives (Wiggins & McTighe, 2005).

Differentiated Instruction (DI): An instructional strategy that allows teachers to teach diverse learners based on their learning styles and talents (Morgan, 2014; Tomlinson, 2014).

Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA): A federal act that reauthorized the No Child Left Behind Act (2002) which authorized federal spending to support grades K–12. The ESSA of 2015 also promotes equal opportunity to quality education regardless of race, socioeconomic levels, or disabilities (US Department of Education, n.d.; Darrow, 2016).

General Education Classroom: An educational classroom where students are provided instruction and evaluated based on state standards (Friend & Bursuck, 2014)

Individualized Education Plan (IEP): A document required by IDEA and prepared by a multidisciplinary team that specifies a student's educational needs, goals, and objectives to be successful (Friend & Bursuck, 2014).

Inclusion: A heterogeneous practice that provides an instructional environment that involves both students with disabilities and nondisabled students in a regular classroom (Royster, Reglin, & Losike–Sedimo, 2014).

Inclusive Teaching: Teaching approaches that address the needs of students with a variety of backgrounds, learning styles, and abilities. These strategies contribute to an overall inclusive learning environment in which students feel equally valued (McGovern, 2015).

Least Restricted Environment (LRE): An environment where students with disabilities can be educated in a general education classroom (Friend & Bursuck, 2014; Bichehouse, & Faieta, 2017).

Special Education (SPED): Education techniques mandated by the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act ("IDEA") which requires public schools across the United States to provide SPED support and services for all students with one of the enumerated disabilities who need such supports and services to benefit educationally (McGovern, 2015).

Teacher Assessments or Assessment: An assessment within a classroom setting to measure the impact of teaching and learning (Opre, 2015; Office of Standards in Education, 2014).

Teacher Self–Efficacy: A teacher's belief and confidence in his/her capabilities to perform specified teaching tasks and carry out duties that enhance student learning and achievement (Dixion et al., 2014).

Significance of the Study

The significance of this study includes determining how middle school teachers implement DI, what DI strategies they use, and the challenges with implementing DI in inclusion classes, and what effect DI has on student achievement. Dixon et al. (2014) recommends that teachers differentiate both curriculum and instruction to meet the needs of their students. The students who receive DI are taught at their level of readiness. In addition, the inclusive setting will increase their higher–order thinking skills and their exposure to advanced curriculum. The results of the study will benefit students, general education teachers, and scholar-practitioners at the local middle schools, as it will provide information about teachers' knowledge of the implementation of DI, what strategies teachers utilize to implement DI, and the effects of DI on student achievement. This information may help administrators plan training, increase support, or obtain resources for inclusion teachers who struggle with DI. In addition, the findings will also provide general education teachers with information about other teachers' experiences while implementing DI and reduce their feelings of frustration. Administrators may be able to use this information to combat challenges or resistance toward using DI and help

teachers incorporate resources that will increase student achievement amongst students in an inclusive classroom setting. Locally, the district could create professional development opportunities or professional learning communities to provide teachers with training and other resources for the effective use of DI strategies to increase student achievement within their inclusive classrooms.

This study may create social change within local middle schools by promoting DI to increase academic achievement. It may also amplify the awareness of the need for inclusive classes to equip SPED students with practical and critical thinking skills to combat the increased demands of diversity on local and national levels. The results from this study may further assist teachers with better instruction and creating positive social change by preparing students to be successful, productive citizens.

Research Questions

In this qualitative instrumental case study, I addressed the problem that despite placing students with disabilities in inclusive classrooms, it is not known how knowledgeable teachers are about DI, how teachers use DI strategies to support the inclusion of students with disabilities, and the effects of DI on student achievement. The purpose of this study was to explore rural middle school teacher's experiences with incorporating the components (content, process and product) of DI with special education students in an inclusion classroom to increase student achievement, as well as to explore strategies middle school teachers can use to incorporate differentiated instruction. There is a gap in the literature on how teachers in middle schools are implementing DI within inclusive classrooms (Edward et al., 2006). The research questions for this qualitative instrumental case study were:

Research Question 1 (RQ1): What type of training, if any, have rural middle school teachers had with teaching the components (content, process and product) of DI within their inclusive classrooms to support SPED students?

Research Question 2 (RQ2): How do rural middle school teachers use the components of DI to support SPED students within an inclusion class?

Research Question 3 (RQ3): How do the components of DI used by the teachers at the school of study align with best practices in DI to support SPED students within an inclusion class?

Research Question 4 (RQ4): What challenges do middle school teachers at the school of study face with incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion class?

Review of the Literature

The U.S. government has implemented strict guidelines for providing equal educational opportunities for students with disabilities, one of which is the IDEA (2004). As a result, this led to the implementation of inclusive practices in general education classes as the LRE for SPED students (King–Sears et al., 2014). According to the National Center for Education Statistics (National Center for Education Statistics [NCES], 2017), approximately 47% of students with disabilities spend 80% or more of their day in an inclusive classroom; therefore, changes in educational practices, such as the implementation of DI, are critical to meet the needs of SPED students in inclusive classes. The purpose of this qualitative instrumental case study was to explore rural middle school teachers' experiences with incorporating the components (content, process and product) of DI with SPED students in an inclusion classroom. The first part of this section includes an overview of Tomlinson's (1999) model of DI. Next, I present literature that focuses on strategies for implementing DI and barriers with implementing DI. Finally, I discuss the effects of DI on student achievement.

I compiled and analyzed research from books and journal articles in peer– reviewed publications to conduct the literature review. I conducted a search using the Walden University Library, Google Scholar, ProQuest, ERIC, EBSCOhost, and the South Carolina Department of Education Website. The keywords in my search included: *differentiated instruction, inclusion, special education, and student achievement, teacher training with differentiated instruction, teacher perception,* and *Individualized Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).* In addition, I explored the reference section of current articles and studies to locate additional research on this topic.

Conceptual Framework

Differentiated Instruction Model

I used Tomlinson's (1999) model of Differentiated Instruction (DI). According to Tomlinson (1999), teachers can provide DI by altering the content being taught, the process by which the content is taught, or the product created by the student to show mastery of the content being taught. Some general principles of DI include: respectful tasks that provide challenge without frustration to a student based on his/her learning profile, quality curriculum intended to address state standards, flexible grouping to maintain appropriate settings for students, continual assessment for understanding, and the establishment of a community where all are respected and feel comfortable to learn (Tomlinson, 1999). According to Tomlinson (1999), DI should be based on a student's readiness, interest, and his/her learning profile.

In the 21st century, students enter classrooms with varied educational backgrounds and knowledge. One of the challenges currently faced by teachers is how to meet the learning needs of each student in such a diverse population. DI was developed as a theory to address the needs of gifted students (Ward, 1961). Tomlinson's (1999) model of DI is an appropriate framework to guide the research because the implementation of DI within an inclusive classroom setting has the potential to meet the needs of students with varying abilities; therefore, teachers must implement the use of DI in inclusion classes to meet the needs of the SPED students and potentially increase student achievement.

DI can be achieved by using three differentiating components: content, process and product (Akos, Cockman, & Strickland, 2007; Brighton & Moon, 2015; Tomlinson, 1999). Content is the first component of DI. This component involves the use of varying levels of content to assess comprehension, such as, varied text levels or providing content in a different format such as audio or video (Avery, 2017; Lunsford, 2017). However, the use of the content component of DI will require teachers to know their students' learning profiles (Tricario & Yendol–Hoppey, 2012). According to research, teachers can use learning profiles to adjust content to help students access prior knowledge and build on previously learned concepts to cultivate academic progression (Avery, 2017; Goddard, 2010).

The second component of DI is process. Differentiating the process involves varying the activities and instructional strategies teachers use to help their students better understand the content, such as tiered assignments and learning stations (Avery, 2017; Lunsford, 2017; Mardell, Rivard, & Krechevsky, 2012). The final component of DI is product. The product refers to an assessment of mastery. Subsequently, this component allows for students to express their knowledge and understanding through a variety of assessments adjusted to meet varied learning needs for students, such as oral presentations or diagrams (Hewitt & Weckstein, 2012; Lunsford, 2017).

Current Literature

Implementing Differentiated Instruction

The implementation of DI can effectively impact student achievement amongst diverse learners within an inclusive setting. According to Logan (2011), the foundation of DI is based on a teacher's focus on the essentials of learning, attentiveness to student differences, collaboration related to goals, and alignment of assessments and instruction. Levey (2008) noted that the overall goal of DI is to ensure that diverse learners can achieve their academic goals. Hidi and Renninger (2006) concluded that students' participation increases, leading to enhanced student engagement when the content and instructional methods are geared toward a student's level of readiness. According to Tobin and Tippett (2014), DI provides an opportunity for diverse learners to access the same curriculum as their peers. Royster, Reglin, and Losike–Sedimo (2014) concluded

that educators who implement DI found great success in changing the lives of struggling students toward becoming successful students. Sabb–Cordes (2016) stated that the implementation of DI in a diverse setting could also enhance the academic performance of struggling students, as well as, cater to a student's specific learning needs. However, this instructional strategy is contingent on a teacher's ability to use this approach effectively.

The use of DI is a preferred method to reach students with varied learning needs in a classroom with mixed skill levels. According to Vigdor (2013), DI is used to make learning meaningful for students who otherwise would have fallen further behind. Thus, the recommended approach for educators to prevent students from falling behind is providing a plethora of learning options for students to be able to learn and grasp varied concepts (Patterson, Conolly, & Ritters, 2009).

For teachers to effectively implement DI, they must know the learning profiles of their students to meet their individual needs in an inclusion–based classroom (Herrelko, 2013; Latz & Adams, 2011; Lunsford, 2017). Varying the content, process and product enables students to grasp the concepts by meeting them where they are (Bowgren & Sever, 2010).

DI is known for its flexibility; however, it can be a challenge to implement. Having the right training, knowledge, and resources can better equip teachers to implement DI more effectively (Lunsford, 2017). In addition, teachers will have to design activities for students to meet the necessary learning targets (Dixion et al., 2014). According to Lunsford (2017), standards are based on learning targets and what students are expected to learn. The teacher can use these strategies to create lessons and activities that promote meaningful learning, and that will allow students to be successful by meeting their individual learning needs (Dobbertin, 2012). Dobbertin (2012) also stated that these learning targets could be used to assess a student's mastery level of varied content.

Strategies for Implementing Differentiated Instruction

Tiered learning. Differentiating lessons for a diverse group is one of the barriers middle school teachers face when implementing DI within in an inclusive classroom setting. One way of creating lessons tailored for students based on their learning ability, interest, and readiness is by using tiered learning which Tomlinson (1999) calls the "meat and potatoes" of differentiated instruction (p. 11). Tiered learning is defined as a DI strategy that creates multiple pathways for students to develop an understanding of standards and key concepts based on their learning profile (Pierce & Adams, 2004). According to Lunsford (2017), tiered learning is one of the most common instructional practices of DI. King (2016) conveyed that tiered learning can be an effective strategy for educators when they collaborate and plan lessons at which students can display a level of mastery. Tiering assignments also allows students to achieve the same goals (Tomlinson, 2003). Additionally, King (2016) cited that tiered learning can catapult students' achievement levels by challenging them to be successful at their level of readiness. DI is an instructional strategy that is meant to create a blended environment in a heterogeneous classroom by meeting the individual needs of every student; however, it is not meant to isolate or label students (Wu, 2013).

Flexible grouping. Another strategy used to implement DI, as presented by Tomlinson (1999), is flexible grouping. Flexible grouping is an instructional strategy that educators use to group and regroup students according to their learning needs (Castle, Deniz, & Tortora, 2005). Teachers can use small flexible groups to meet students' needs (Lunsford, 2017). However, the effectiveness of the strategy is dependent on the students' learning styles, as well as their levels of readiness and interest. According to Rogdriguez–Valls (2014), flexible grouping allows teachers to place low–achieving students with high achieving students, thus promoting cooperative learning using Vygotsky's zone of proximal development (ZPD). Rakow (2012) suggested that the grouping of students be based on data of student needs and be continually reevaluated to ensure the group setting is effective in meeting the needs of the students. Lunsford (2017) cited that teachers who implement flexible grouping within their classrooms can access students' level of understanding more easily in small groups. Herrelko (2013) reported that grouping based on ability, or flexible grouping, enhanced student achievement.

Co-teaching. Co-teaching is an approach schools can implement to meet the diverse instructional needs for SPED student mainstreamed into an inclusive-based classroom environment while addressing federal mandates (King, 2016). Conderman (2011) described co-teaching as "two or more educators working collaboratively to deliver instruction to a heterogeneous group of students in a shared instructional space" (p. 24). Additionally, this strategy has been known to support the challenges and capitalize on instructional needs for diverse learners in the general education classroom (Nierengarten, 2013).

According to King (2016), DI, when incorporated into a co-taught classroom, can support the learning needs of SPED students. The recommendation for the best learning environment for students with mixed levels of learning is in an inclusive classroom (King, 2016; Peterson, 2016). Some researchers suggest that co-teaching enhances and increases instructional performance for SPED students (Nichols, Dowdy, & Nichols, 2010).

There are a few approaches to co-teaching. One model of co-teaching when one teacher is teaching while the other is observing and supporting students by circulating the room (Friend, 2014). Another model of co-teaching involves the use of teaching stations and grouping students to deliver content in small groups (Friend, 2014). Additionally, alternative teaching is another approach to co-teaching that allows the teachers to divide students into two groups, one large and one small, taking the smaller group to deliver a more modified instruction (Friend, 2014). However, one of the most common approaches to co-teaching is team teaching. According to Friend (2014), this form of co-teaching involves collaborative lesson planning and instructional delivery by both an inclusion or SPED teacher and a general education teacher. It is also noted that this particular approach is predominately executed by one teacher delivering instruction and one teacher assisting. In most cases, the general education teacher takes on the lead while the SPED teacher supports and assists the SPED students (Scruggs et al., 2007). Prior research substantiates the belief that co-teaching can influence DI by providing more support for SPED students and maximizing instruction to improve student achievement (King, 2016; Tomlinson, 1998).

Little research has been conducted to show how general education and SPED teachers implement DI strategies in a co-teaching model (King, 2016). Using the co-teaching model presents a challenge with incorporating the components of DI due to the teachers' lack of understanding (King, 2016).

Differentiated Instruction and Inclusion Settings

Since the mandate of placing students in the LRE set by IDEA (1997), SPED students have been placed into general education classrooms allowing them to receive the same education as students without disabilities (Giangreco, 2007; IDEA, 1997; Yell, 2006). This is also known as inclusion. In 2002, NCLB (2002) was passed, which also promoted equal education based on challenging state achievement standards and state assessments for all students (NCLB, 2002). Together, NCLB and IDEA forced school districts nationally to adhere to the changes made to increase the student achievement for SPED students by mainstreaming SPED students into general education classrooms. Mainstreaming students into a general education classroom will allow SPED students to have additional support to be successful (Deason, 2014; Gingreco, 2007). Therefore, it is essential for educators to be equipped with effective instructional practices to meet the different needs within their classes to help each student reach his/her greatest potential (Rosenzweig, 2009).

Several studies have revealed many benefits to inclusive education (IDEA, 2007). Since transitioning SPED students into general education classrooms, the expectation of academic achievement for SPED students has increased (Thompson, 2003), which has compelled teachers to individualize learning for all students, including special needs students. One approach toward meeting those is the implementation of DI. As it was previously stated, DI is the instructional strategy that allows teachers to meet the needs of all students without changing the integrity of the standards (Tomlinson & Cooper, 2006).

According to Baker (2005), teachers must be knowledgeable and understand DI before they can incorporate it into their curriculum. Prior research suggested that the implementation of DI influences inclusion for it blends individualized learning, flexible grouping, and tiered assignments at a level suitable for each style of learning (Choate, 2002). According to Deason (2014) and Henderson (n.d.), it is critical that inclusion teachers provide a plethora of learning opportunities, varying the content, process and product as a part of DI, to meet the needs of all students. However, it is imperative for general education teachers to have an understanding and readiness of varied strategies which will increase their self–efficacy and confidence in implementing DI within an inclusive setting (Deason, 2014).

Differentiated Instruction and Student Achievement

DI helps teachers meet students where they are in their educational journey as a means of getting them where they need to be (Morgan, 2014; Tomlinson, 2014). Gentry, Sallie, and Sanders (2013) concluded that teachers who differentiate instruction efficiently incorporate best practices in moving nondisabled and disabled learners toward proficiency within their state standards. In addition, Gentry et al. (2013) cited that the use of DI was shown to increase student engagement, improve intrinsic motivation, increase student productivity, and improve self–competence. According to Deason (2014), teachers who infuse the learning experience by using DI provide scaffolded instruction,

which allows students to work with others who may have more background knowledge. In addition, DI will allow teachers to cultivate student growth and maximize student success by meeting their individual needs and assisting with their learning process (Tibin & Tippett, 2014).

Dixion, Yssel, McConnell, and Hardin (2014) reported on the difficulty in teaching in an inclusion classroom, which included disabled and nondisabled students. According to Hehir (2012), there are other districts, nationally, that have shown growth in the achievement of students with learning disabilities through inclusive practices. Hehir (2012) also presented findings from three urban schools and two suburban schools where inclusive practices positively influenced student achievement and growth. Morgan (2014) cited that DI is designed for diverse learners, ensuring that all students are successful; however, in the local setting, teachers still report struggling with this practice.

Researchers have found that DI is one of many instructional strategies used to support SPED students toward academic success (Rachmawati, Widasmara, & Wibisono, 2016). According to Royster, Reglin, and Losike–Sedimo (2014), middle school teachers reported that the lack of understanding and knowledge of DI hindered their ability to implement strategies for DI. In addition, some general education teachers also feel that the lack of training presents a barrier to the implementation of DI within an inclusive classroom. Unlike content area knowledge professional development, it is difficult to locate professional development specifically for DI (Principal, personal communication, October 2016; Tricarico & Yendol–Hoppey, 2012). According to Nicolae (2014), the barriers teachers face with DI can directly affect student learning, which indirectly affects
the school performance. The target school has not examined how general education teachers use DI, or the lack of DI, within inclusive classrooms (Principal and special education lead teacher, personal communication, October 2016). This instrumental case study may provide more information about how general education and SPED teachers can collaborate and implement DI to increase student achievement within inclusion– based classrooms.

I will use the results of this study to create and facilitate a professional development workshop that the district may use to develop programs to assist general education teachers with pedagogy for the implementation of DI to improve their inclusion–based classroom. The professional development may lead to a more effective use of DI in diverse classrooms. In addition, the professional development may also influence instructional practices in inclusive classrooms that could result in increased student achievement.

Lack of Training in Differentiated Instruction

According to the research, one reason for the lack of implementation of DI within inclusive classrooms is teachers not feeling prepared to teach in a mixed-level classroom due to not receiving the proper training (Deason, 2017; Sadiogl et al., 2013). Ashby (2012) noted that teachers faced some challenges with accommodating a classroom of diverse learners. Advocates for inclusion acknowledge the importance of implementing DI but report that training is essential (Horne, Timmons, & Admowycz, 2008). The lack of teacher preparation aligns with teacher self–efficacy, for teachers may feel inadequate when teaching students in an inclusion classroom. Their attitudes may become negative, which can impact the overall climate of the learning environment (Sharma, 2012). Training can help to improve teachers' attitudes toward inclusion and provide educators with the knowledge and tools needed to serve the students, thus increasing student achievement (Deason, 2017; Sharma, 2012).

Deason (2017) noted that the lack of special education training, specifically, has affected the general education teachers' attitudes toward the inclusion of students with disabilities (Hsien, Brown, & Bortoli, 2009). It is equally important for general education teachers to receive SPED training, for it lessens the frustrations of working with students with disabilities and aids in sustaining the expectations of the classroom to effectively deliver instruction (Deason, 2017; Grskovic & Trzcinka, 2011; Hwang & Evans, 2011). SPED teachers are also encouraged to have the training to better serve as consultants to the general education teachers (Hamilton–Jones & Vail, 2014). Teacher training can affect the quality of learning for students within an inclusive classroom. Conversely, a lack of training can impact the ability for students to learn at their full potential (Park & Oliver, 2009).

Hisen et al. (2009) reported that teachers trained in SPED provided students with an equal education in an inclusive setting. He also noted that teachers who were trained reported having an increase in skills, knowledge, and confidence when providing instruction for students with disabilities in their classrooms. In a study conducted by Cooper, Kurtts, Baber, and Vallercorsa (2008), half of the teachers who contributed to the study discovered that being unprepared to meet the needs of their SPED students, while simultaneously conducting instruction for other students in their classroom, led to negativity and frustration, ultimately affecting the learning environment for all students (Deason, 2017). Therefore, there has been a push for teacher preparation programs to promote training for general education teachers in inclusive instructional practices (Dee, 2011). Unfortunately, the lack of training in these teacher preparation programs directly affects novice teachers, as well as veteran teachers, who lack the training and experience to manage an inclusive classroom (Fullerton et al., 2011). Smith and Tyler (2011) reported that the lack of training had not prepared teachers for the demands of diverse classrooms populated by students with mixed abilities.

According to Kappler–Hewitt and Weckstein (2012), teachers should receive specific training in DI and how to effectively implement it in their classrooms. Teachers are intimidated when they are pushed to use DI in their classrooms without any training. The instructional practices involved in the implementation of DI may be unclear to them (Chesley & Jordan, 2012; Dee, 2012). It is suggested that teacher training should take place at the beginning of the year to help teachers adapt and adjust to the reality of a 21st century classroom (Forlin, Earle, Loreman, & Sharma, 2011).

Teacher training programs are necessary for all general education teachers working with SPED students in an inclusive classroom (Ajuwon et al., 2012). According to Fullerton et al. (2012), college programs are starting to incorporate SPED courses, as well as courses on new models to help merge SPED and general education students into an inclusive classroom. Unfortunately, many educators received training before these program changes. Educator training in DI is critical for general education teachers working with SPED students. McMaster (2013) stated that inclusion is not just an educational trend. It is something that is constantly evolving, and it is important for teachers to be equipped with the tools to provide all students with a quality education in the LRE (Deason, 2017; Ashby, 2017). Teachers can overcome any challenges with implementing DI given the proper training, which may directly impact the academic performance of students (Dixion et al., 2014).

Teacher Self–Efficacy and Differentiated Instruction

According to the research, a teacher's self-efficacy directly affects his/her implementation of DI within his/her classroom (Dixon et al., 2014). Teacher self-efficacy is the belief a teacher has in his/her ability to be effective. In this case, a teacher with high self-efficacy believes he/she can effectively implement DI and positively influence student achievement (Bandura, 1997; Suprayogi, Valcke, & Godwin, 2017). In contrast, Garrett (2017) and Dixion et al. (2014) reported teachers who had a low self-efficacy found the implementation of DI challenging due to their fear of not providing effective delivery. Teaching experience can also impact a teacher's level of self-efficacy. Researchers reported that novice teachers displayed low confidence in the ability to implement DI (Dixion et al., 2015). However, Dixion et al. (2014) and Suprayogi, Valcke, and Godwin (2017) both reported that high teacher self-efficacy increases DI implementation levels. Teachers with high self-efficacy are confident in their teaching abilities and embrace the implementation of DI. In addition to self-efficacy, the lack of training, resources, and support are also barriers preventing the implementation of DI within middle school general education classrooms (Prince, 2014; Opre, 2015).

Implications

Researchers have acknowledged that DI is one of many best practices that is used, in addition to other instructional strategies, to increase student achievement and learning outcomes for SPED students (Rachmawati, Widasmara, & Wibisono, 2016). This project study has the potential to have a positive social impact, for a professional development training curriculum and materials plan will be developed on how middle school teachers can incorporate the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusive classroom.

Some general education teachers expressed that a lack of training presents a challenge for incorporating the components of DI in an inclusive classroom. Unlike content area knowledge professional development, it is hard to find professional development specific for DI (Principal, personal communication, October 2016; Tricarico &Yendol–Hoppey, 2012). An investigation was conducted at a middle school which evaluated inclusion programs. The middle school teachers reported that they were not successful with an inclusive setting due to the lack of understanding and knowledge about inclusion (Royster, Reglin, & Losike–Sedimo, 2014). This research could impact social change by providing the district, as well as the school site administration, with tools needed to support middle school teachers when incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students, which could lead to student success and more productivity in society.

The findings from this study could encourage school districts to evaluate middle school teachers' use of DI within an inclusive classroom and provide a professional development workshop on how to overcome the challenges that would occur with incorporating DI in an inclusion–based classroom. According to Wu (2013), the implementation of DI can catapult significant gains in academic skills, as well as improve attitudes toward learning. Several studies agree that DI, when incorporated into a curriculum, can maximize learning for SPED students by providing them with extra support to be more successful in an inclusive setting.

The target school has not examined how general education teachers use DI, or the lack of DI, within inclusive classrooms (Principal and special education lead teacher, personal communication, October 15, 2016). Therefore, the results from this study could isolate the challenges middle school teachers face when working with SPED students in an inclusive classroom. Once those challenges are acknowledged, a project will be developed to assist the middle school teachers so that they will have strategies needed to be more effective when working with SPED students in an inclusive classroom (Special education teacher, personal communication, Nov. 8, 2018).

This project study includes professional development training that will consist of informative workshops providing middle school teachers with an opportunity to collaborate with other teachers to develop model lessons that include the components of DI within their curriculum aimed to support SPED students. Tiered activities could be created to assist in providing effective instruction to the varied learning needs for all content areas.

Summary

In this study, I focused on middle school teachers' experience in using the components of DI to support SPED students in inclusive classrooms. DI allows teachers to create a learning environment that meets the needs of diverse learners while promoting instructional, as well as social, growth for all levels of learners (Monsen, Ewing, & Kwota, 2014). Despite placing SPED students in inclusive classrooms, it is not known how middle school teachers are incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion classroom. In Section 1 of this study, an extensive review of the literature on DI and inclusion is provided.

In Section 2, I present how the project was conducted and the case study approach for this study. Section 3 showcases the data collected and introduces any thematic relationships and patterns that may emerge from the study. The final section provides an analysis and reflection of the study. This section also provides an explanation of the findings, recommendations for further research, and suggestions for social change.

Section 2: The Methodology

The purpose of this qualitative instrumental case study was to explore rural middle school teachers' experiences with incorporating the components (content, process and product) of DI with SPED students in an inclusion classroom. I explored middle school teachers' (grades 6–8) experiences incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion-based classroom in one middle school in one rural school district located in South Carolina. According to The State Report Card (2016), teacher communication, and communication with the administration, there has been a decline in student achievement for SPED students placed in an inclusive setting.

With a steady decline, teachers and school administrators have determined there is a need to close the achievement gap for SPED students by incorporating the components of DI to increase student achievement. Many researchers have explored the implementation of DI within the classroom and teacher perception of DI, but research on incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students has never been done at the study site. Thus, an instrumental case study was the best design for this study. According to Creswell (2014), the purpose of an instrumental case study is to explicate an issue. The shared experiences of the participants while incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students in their inclusion-based classrooms at the study site bind this case.

The following research questions were the basis for developing interview questions for this study:

RQ1: What type of training, if any, have rural middle school teachers had with teaching the components (content, process and product) of DI within their inclusive classrooms to support SPED students?

RQ2: How do rural middle school teachers use the components of DI to support SPED students within an inclusion class?

RQ3: How do the components of DI used by the teachers at the school of study align with best practices in DI to support SPED students within an inclusion class?

RQ4: What challenges do middle school teachers at the school of study face with incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion class??

In the methodology section, I describe the research I conducted for this study. Next, I explain the background for the study, along with the sampling procedures used to choose the participants for the study. Finally, I discuss the qualitative portion of the study, thoroughly explaining the instruments used to collect data and the data analysis procedures in this chapter.

Case Study Research Design and Approach

A case study method allows the participants to provide their intimate thoughts and feelings about inclusion and their understanding of DI and how it is used in a non– inclusive setting to enhance student learning. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) stated that case studies are an exploratory way of deepening the knowledge and understanding of a central phenomenon. The instrumental case study design is bound by the participants' shared experiences while incorporating the components of DI to support special education students within their inclusive classroom. This case study provided a rich and in-depth understanding of how rural middle school teachers use the components of DI, the challenges middle school teachers face while implementing DI in an inclusion classroom, and how the teachers align the components of DI with best practices in DI for supporting SPED students within an inclusive classroom.

Selecting a qualitative approach required that I be familiar with all the different kinds of qualitative approaches. After reviewing other possibilities provided by Creswell (2014), I narrowed down a method based on relevancy. I outlined the traits of potential methodology options for this study, such as: ethnography, phenomenology, grounded theory, narrative, and case study.

I rejected the ethnography design for the focus of this is on the understanding of a cultural group and making an interpretation of beliefs, values, behaviors of cultures (Yin, 2014). I did not seek to explore a cultural group. I rejected the phenomenological research design for this study because it involves lived experiences and perceptions of study participants about a specific phenomenon detailed by individual participants (Creswell, 2014; Yin, 2014). This research design would have allowed me to answer questions based on the participants' life experiences, but it would have required prolonged engagement in the field. For that reason, I rejected this design.

The perception and views of the participants based on an incident or interaction is the basis of grounded theory research design. The data are collected from a group of individuals to discover a theory about why a phenomenon occurred (Creswell, 2014). For that reason, the grounded theory design was not appropriate for this study. I rejected this design for the intention of this study is not to develop a theory involving teachers and their use of DI.

The narrative approach is necessary to understand the lives of individuals (Creswell, 2014). This approach is most appropriate for understanding stories about the individual lives of the participants and their experiences. I rejected this design for the intention of the present study is not to investigate the story of the participants' lives outside the school environment.

A quantitative research analysis is a method that focuses on numerical data and general information through surveys and experiments (Yin, 2014). For this reason, I rejected a quantitative research method. This design method does not support the depth that the researcher needs to thoroughly understand teachers' use of DI in middle school inclusive classrooms.

A mixed methods design is a method that is a mix of both qualitative and quantitative research (Creswell, 2014). I rejected this design approach for I will not collect any quantitative data to be analyzed for my study.

Setting and Sample

The school district of study is in the southeastern region of South Carolina and enrolls approximately 10,000 students from Pre-K to 12th grade. However, the focus for this study consisted of one rural middle school within the district of study, which serves approximately 550 students in grades 6–8 with a diverse population where 69% of the students are eligible for free and reduced lunch. According to the Department of Education (2016), the enrollment of students was: 33% White, 53% Black, 12% Hispanic/Latino, 1% Asian, and 2% Multiracial. During that year, 98 students or 18% were classified as SPED students, and 35% of the students were placed in an inclusion–based classroom (District Data System, 2016; special education teacher, and personal communication, September 7, 2016; South Carolina Depart of Education, 2016). The SPED students in the school of study received instruction through a co–taught inclusion model or push in by a SPED teacher. However, the number of inclusion students varied from class to class.

One of the key elements to conducting a qualitative study is determining how many participants would be appropriate for this study. There were 24 middle school teachers (n=24) at the study site, and all 24 teachers were invited to participate in the study. Inviting all 24 of the teachers for the study increased the possible number of participants and allowed for a generalization of the data collected (Leedy & Ormond, 2015). However, I used a purposeful sample from the school of study, which included all content area teachers who currently teach in an inclusion-based classroom. For this study, 14 teachers who taught in an inclusion setting were considered to participate in the study. From the purposeful sample, there were 10 willing participants. The standards I used to select participants for this study included: two participants who taught English and language arts (ELA), two participants who taught math, two participants who taught social studies, two participants who taught science, one participant who taught English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) students, and one participant who taught SPED. This sample of teachers allowed more diversity for my investigation into instructional practices of the participants and their incorporation of DI, or lack thereof to support

SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom. It also allowed for a more representative sample of the overall teacher population at the school of study.

For this qualitative study, I completed a formal request to conduct a research study. I obtained a letter of cooperation from the school principal at the study site. Next, I contacted potential participants to request volunteers for the study. I only used school district email accounts to notify participants about the study. Upon the participants' acceptance to be a part of the study, all communication with the participants took place using my Walden University email account. In approximately one week after my initial email was sent to notify potential participants of the study, I sent a second email, that provided a consent form which informed the participants of their rights and requirements. The participants' rights and requirements included: reported study will not disclose participants' identities, as well as any details about the location of study; names or any other identifying information that may connect them with this study will not be disclosed; no personal information will be used for any purpose outside of this research project; and all the information collected will be safely secured on my personal, password–protected computer, which is kept at home. Once participants were chosen, I sent a letter of cooperation via email to the middle school principals to request permission to conduct my study using the teachers at their school.

To conduct my study, I obtained permission from Walden University's Instructional Review Board (IRB). To gain access to teacher participants, I obtained a letter of cooperation from the principal and district to conduct my study. Next, I sent out an email using their district email account to all the middle school teachers thanking them for participating in my study. During this initial contact, I provided potential participants with an explanation of my study. I also ensured them that they do not have to participate in this study, but I would appreciate their time. I also explained that participation in this study would involve a 60-minute interview, a one hour observation (noting their use (not) of incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students), and a document review (i.e., lesson plans, assessments, homework, projects, etc.). Once the participants agreed to participate in my study, all communication with the participants took place using their email account and my Walden University email account. Within one week after the initial email was sent to notify potential participants of my study, I sent a second email that provided a consent form with detailed information about my study, including what the participants were asked to do and their rights. Potential participants were asked to respond within one week if they were willing to participate. I collected the willing participants' personal email information and sent an email to schedule a time to interview and observe each participant. From that pool of participants, I selected a purposeful sample. According to Merriam (2014), purposeful sampling involves the selection of participants who have "information-rich" (p. 78) cases related to the purpose of the study to learn about the phenomenon.

Likewise, Leedy and Ormond (2015) stated that purposeful sampling would also assure representation of the overall population of the school of study. Using this approach will assure the representation of the overall population of the study site (Leedy & Ormond, 2015). As I noted earlier, I selected two participants who taught ELA, two participants who taught social studies, two participants who taught math, one participant who taught ESOL students, one teacher who taught SPED students, and two teachers who taught science. The teachers selected for this study allowed me to deeply explore how teachers incorporated the components of DI, or the lack thereof, to support SPED students. Interviews took place in a private, remote location, and one hour was allotted for each interview. To uphold confidentiality, I assigned a letter to each participant to identify each participant's interview data. When scheduling the interviews, I requested that each participant provide an artifact to be collected and analyzed using the review of artifacts protocol. Each participant presented those artifacts after each interview.

Data Collection Strategies

For this study, I gathered data through face-to-face, semi structured interviews, observations, and the gathering of artifacts to explore how middle school teachers incorporated the components of DI to support SPED students in their inclusion–based classroom. I also gathered data on the type of strategies they found useful, the challenges they reported in using the components of DI, and the resources or support they needed to effectively incorporate the components of DI to support their SPED students in an inclusive classroom. From the participants who volunteered for my study, 10 teachers were willing to be interviewed and observed, and were willing to submit documents for review. I used three different methods of data collection for triangulation. Triangulation of the data permits a researcher to find consistencies and inconsistencies within the data collected by utilizing multiple data collection sources to support the validity of the study (Leedy & Ormond, 2015).

Data Collection Instruments

To address the study problem, I conducted face-to-face, semi structured interviews with middle school teachers who were teaching students in an inclusive classroom at the school of study. According to Leedy and Ormond (2015), face-to-face interviews allow the researcher to establish a rapport with the participants. In the semi structured interviews, I used guided, open-ended questions which allowed the participants to address the issues in a conversational style. It also allowed me to add additional questions as the conversation progressed. The use of open-ended questions provided candid and in-depth discussions about inclusive practices. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), interviews can be used to collect data for a wide range of ideas. More so, the semi structured interviews will provide detailed, thick descriptions of teachers' understanding of DI to support SPED students who have transitioned into an inclusion setting. This format not only offered me the opportunity to begin each interview with questions that produced data to address my research questions, but it also allowed me to probe for more in-depth exploration to seek out thematic relationships. I created an interview protocol (Appendix B) that was used to collect data. The interview protocol assured that the interviews addressed the research questions for this study, for it is supported by case study design and Tomlinson's model of DI. The transcripts from the interviews were hand-coded and analyzed for common themes. I used a highlighting system to code the interviews, as well as to construct diagrams by theme, assigning a list of coding classifications to each theme. The coding classification consisted of words or phrases that were found to be common throughout the transcriptions.

In addition to the interviews, observations of middle school teachers in the core content areas (English language arts, mathematics, science, and social studies), as well as, an ESOL classroom and a SPED class were used to collect data. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), the key elements to observations are locations, contributors, activities, connections, and conversations. Yin (2014) conveyed that observations add "new dimensions for understanding" (p. 114). The observations allowed the researcher to collect insightful details regarding teacher/student engagement. The researcher created an observation protocol (Appendix C) to record the information collected from the observations, which is a helpful tool for a systemic approach to conducting classroom observations and personal reflections (Creswell, 2014). Observations included: classroom layout, teacher interaction, engagement with SPED students, lesson objectives, teaching models, the use of materials, assignments, and methods to evaluate student performance, and teaching strategies using the components of DI. Yin (2014) suggested that researchers use fields notes taken during their observations and later organize the notes by important topics. The observation protocol provided me with the means to collect and record descriptive and reflective notes that focused on any examples of differentiation seen in an inclusive classroom, as well as any other pedagogical methods associated with DI.

The sample of artifacts that was collected from the participants was another useful piece of evidence that guided the research for this study. According to Yin (2014), artifacts can be a key component in a case study. Any artifacts that teachers were using or have used when implementing DI was accepted as a form of data. As it was previously

stated, the researcher requested that each participant provide an artifact that showed the incorporation of the components of DI. The artifacts included: worksheets, lesson plans, assessments, homework, and other documents that may reveal practices of DI, or the lack thereof, within an inclusive classroom. I also created a protocol for completing the review of documents (Appendix D). Interviews, observations, and artifacts provided an inclusive interpretation of the phenomenon being investigated.

This study explored the challenges reported with incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom by the teachers at the middle schools in South Carolina, as well as the types of support or resources the teachers need to incorporate the components of DI within an inclusive classroom. This study may help bridge the learning gap for diverse learners and increase the academic success for SPED students. The results of this study may inform the district about the training needed for middle school teachers to effectively improve their incorporation of the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom.

Interview Protocol

The interview protocol was aligned with the conceptual framework and addressed the research questions outlined in this study. At the start of each interview, I reminded each participant of the purpose of the study, as well as his/her rights as a participant. At that time, each participant signed the consent form. The consent form also included an agreement to be audio recorded during the interview.

The interview protocol was broken into three sections: Background Questions, Knowledge and Training, and Instructional Practices. The first addressed background information on the teaching experience and the classroom environments of each of the participants, such as, how long he/she taught, the number of SPED students in his/her class, class size, and background knowledge on DI. This section aimed to gather relevant information in effort to put the participants at ease. This section aimed to gather relevant information while using less intimidating questions, putting the participant at ease.

The second section focused on knowledge and training, which allowed the researcher to collect information on the participants' understanding of the components of DI and any training in DI attended by the participants. The researcher began this section by asking the participants how much training or professional development about the components of DI has been offered to middle school teachers. The researcher asked follow–up questions by asking the participants to share their experiences, what they learned, and whether it was useful, if they did participate in any training or professional development. The researcher inquired about instructional tools, if any, he/she needed to effectively incorporate the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom. The researcher also asked questions about the challenges each teacher faced, if any, with incorporating the components of DI in his/her inclusion–based classroom.

The third section addressed the participants' instructional practices. I asked each participant what instructional strategies he/she was currently using, if any, that were aligned with the components of DI to support SPED students. I also asked each participant what assessments he/she used to assess a SPED student's level of understanding according to the standards. Next, the researcher asked each participant for some examples of activities he/she has used to engage SPED students while incorporating the components of DI within their curriculum.

After the interview, I thanked each participant for allowing me to interview him/her. I also reminded each participant that I would transcribe the interview while listening to the audio recording. A summary of findings was sent to each participant to review and verify his/her own data for accuracy.

Conducting the Interviews

The number of participants for the interviews was 10. From those participants who volunteered for this study, I selected two participants who taught ELA, two participants who taught social students, one participant who taught an ESOL class, one participant who was a SPED teacher, two participants who taught math, and two science teachers for my purposeful sample.

The time for each interview took between 45 to 60 minutes. I audio recorded the interviews, as well as took brief notes during the interviews. After each interview, I drafted a reflection that included details from the interview, along with thoughts and reactions. While listening to the audio recording, I transcribed each interview using my password–protected personal computer. I used the transcriptions for coding and theme development. After analyzing the data, I wrote a summary of the findings and emailed it to each participant, using his/her email address, for verification and accuracy. This is known as member checking. Member checking ensures that the researcher has accurately recorded the participants' thoughts (Merriam, 2014). Once the email was sent, I requested for each participant to review the draft findings. Each participant was given one week to

review the findings and notify me of any necessary changes. All the participants approved the findings. I reviewed their feedback and no adjustments were necessary. Merriam (2014) noted that this procedure ensures that the researcher has accurately captured the participants' meaning.

Observation Protocol

The observation protocol that I created was aligned with the conceptual framework and addressed the research questions outlined in the study. Once I interviewed each participant, I allotted one hour to observe each participant while he/she was teaching class. The objective of the observation was to determine how the participants were using the components of differentiation, or the lack of, as well as their content delivery and student/teacher interaction as it relates to SPED students. Given the nature of observations, I attempted to conduct my observations with minimal disruption to the instructional process. This allowed me to observe any evidence of DI being used in an inclusive classroom setting (Yin, 2014). In addition to using the observation protocol, I also took brief notes to collect and record data (Yin, 2014). At the end of the observation, I thanked each participant for allowing me to observe him/her. I also informed each participant that I recorded field notes during the observation and that I would send them a summary of the findings to review and verify for accuracy. Participants were given one week to review the findings for accuracy and notify me of any necessary changes. All participants approved the findings. Thus, no adjustments were necessary.

Conducting the Observations

I allotted one hour for each observation, which took place in each teacher's inclusion-based classroom. I used an observation checklist (Appendix C) to record findings of DI within the classroom. The checklist was created by *The Learning Forward* Organization and influenced by Carol Tomlinson. With permission from The Learning *Forward Organization*, I verified the checklist to seek evidence as it related to my study. When conducting observations, I observed the activities as an uninvolved participant in the classroom. During each observation, I used the observation checklist. I also noted evidence that showed the use of DI to support SPED students, such as, teachers using the components of DI (content, process and product), teaching strategies (i.e., tiered lessons and grouping), and leveled instruction. At the end of the observation, I completed a selfreflection detailing my thoughts on the observation. In addition, I also sent a summary of the field notes by email to each participant for verification of accuracy. Each participant was given one week to review the findings and notify me of any necessary changes. I reviewed any feedback that was given by each participant concerning accuracy, to determine if any adjustments need to be made to the field notes. Upon my review, I determined that no adjustments needed to be made.

Review of Documents Protocol

The review of artifacts that I created was aligned with the conceptual framework and addressed the research questions outlined throughout the study. Once I interviewed and observed each of the participants, I allotted 30–45 minutes to review the documents provided by each participant. I used a checklist to determine the use of DI presented in the artifacts provided by each of the participants. The goal of the review of artifacts was to determine the use of DI, or the lack thereof, within an inclusive classroom that may not have been observed during the scheduled observation. Field notes were taken during the review of artifacts were used to collect and record data (Yin, 2014).

Conducting the Review of Documents

I allotted 30–45 min to review the artifacts submitted by each participant in the form of lesson plans, homework activities, projects, assessments, or worksheets to find evidence of planned DI. I used the artifact checklist (Appendix D) and looked for evidence of tiered lessons to support diverse learners, lessons to support the standards/content, flexible grouping, student choice, and implementation of ongoing assessments. I also recorded field notes during the review of artifacts. At the end of the review of artifacts, I completed a self-reflection detailing my thoughts. In addition, I wrote a summary of the field notes and sent an email to each participant for verification of accuracy. Any feedback that was given by each participant concerning accuracy was reviewed and determined if any adjustments needed to be made to the field notes from the artifacts. Upon my review, I determined that no adjustments needed to be made.

Researcher's Role and Bias

I am currently a seventh–grade science teacher in the school district of study. I have taught for eight years in the same school within the district of study. Because of the number of years taught in this district, I have developed a professional and personal relationship with many teachers working within the district of study. However, I have no supervisory role within my school or school district. The bias I may have brought to this study was that I have a strong passion for SPED students and equality in education for all students. I chose this topic because I wanted to improve the quality of education for SPED students who have placed in the LRE or inclusion classroom. In addition, I wanted to be instrumental in creating a professional development program for middle school teachers and SPED teachers to be equipped with instructional strategies, such as utilizing the components of DI, to create meaningful learning that will support SPED students. I was fully aware of my role as a researcher in this study. I was able to set aside bias to conduct this study by selecting teachers from surrounding middle schools, not just my local school. In addition, I used a peer reviewer, from whom I collected a signed confidentiality agreement. Utilizing a peer reviewer and member checking ensured that I interpreted the data as the participants intended.

Personal experiences or biases related to the topic were connected to my current work with the curriculum. Since I have had teacher-training responsibilities for a new curriculum in the past, maintaining a bias-free view was important in determining concerns and challenges without considering my personal experiences. Additionally, as recommended by Yin (2014), I used reflective practices as I analyzed data to ensure objectivity and the reporting of data only, free of any researcher opinion or bias.

Data Analysis

The purpose of this qualitative instrumental case study was to explore rural middle school teachers' experiences with incorporating the components (content, process and product) of DI with SPED students in an inclusion classroom. An instrumental case

study design was used to explore middle teachers' experiences (grades 6–8) using the components of DI to support SPED students in their inclusive classrooms in one middle school in a rural school district located in South Carolina. Data gathering included face-to-face, semi structured interview questions, observations of classroom interactions, and a review of documents (i.e., lesson plans, projects, homework assignments, assessments, etc.).

According to Creswell (2014), qualitative data analysis is a method that allows the data collected to be structured in a manner that brings meaning to the data. This process of collecting data is called inductive analysis, which means examining data, transcribing, transferring, analyzing, and interpreting commonalities into thematic relationships and patterns (Creswell, 2014; Yin, 2014). Creswell (2014) provided six steps for analyzing and interpreting qualitative data. The six steps include: (1) collecting data, (2) preparing data for analysis, (3) reading through data to get a general sense, (4) coding and labeling data into segments, (5) coding text for descriptions in research reports, and (6) coding text for themes to be used in research reports. I followed the steps prescribed by Creswell (2014) for this study. Data analysis required organization, time, reflection, and the ability to reduce bias (Creswell, 2014; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016; Yin, 2014).

Data were gathered using face-to-face, semi structured interviews that examined middle school teachers' use of DI in an inclusive classroom setting. All 24 middle school teachers at the study site were invited to participate in this study. However, only 10 met the criteria of being a teacher in an inclusion classroom and agreed to participate. The

willing participants were interviewed, observed, and submitted artifacts for evaluation. From the 10 participants, two participants who taught ELA, two participants who taught math, two participants who taught science, two participants who taught social studies, one who taught ESOL students, and one who taught SPED students were selected for my purposeful sample.

The interview protocol I created was divided into three sections: Background Questions, Knowledge and Training, and Instructional Practices. The first section allowed me to collect information regarding teaching experience. The second section explored the participants' knowledge and training, or lack thereof, of the components of DI and the challenges they face while incorporating DI in their inclusive classrooms. This section connected to my first and fourth research questions. The first question asked for information about the type of training, if any, with teaching the components of DI. The fourth question addressed teachers' challenges by incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom.

The third section explored instructional practices using the components of DI. This section connected with the second research question, for it address how the components of DI align with best practices in DI for SPED students in an inclusion– based classroom. After conducting the interviews, I transcribed the audio recordings of the interviews, input the information into Microsoft Word, and printed a copy of each transcription. I also looked for themes and recurring patterns. I used colored highlighters to note similarities in phrases and words used by each participant. Having the text in different colors allowed me to note dominant themes that were emerging. I categorized the highlighted statements from the interviews into five themes: 1) knowledge of DI, 2) training/professional development, 3) challenges using DI, 4) resources/support, and (5) using technology for DI.

The observation protocol I designed addressed my third and fourth research questions: RQ3: How do the components (content, process and product) of DI that teachers use, if any, align with best practices in DI for SPED students in an inclusion classroom?; and RQ4: What challenges do rural middle school teachers face with incorporating the components (content, process and product) of DI for SPED students in an inclusion classroom? The research questions sought to answer what challenges middle school teachers identify with implementing DI and the resources they need to effectively incorporate the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion-based classroom. Once I conducted the observations, I reviewed my field notes and looked for themes and recurring patterns.

The review of documents protocol I created addressed my third and fourth research questions: RQ3: How do the components (content, process and product) of DI that teachers use, if any, align with best practices in DI for SPED students in an inclusion classroom?; and RQ4: What challenges do rural middle school teachers face with incorporating the components (content, process and product) of DI for SPED students in an inclusion classroom? The research questions sought to answer what challenges middle school teachers identify with incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom and the resources to effectively implement DI to support SPED students. After analyzing the documents, I reviewed my field notes and looked for themes and recurring patterns.

To assure validity, data triangulation was used to corroborate the findings. The three approaches used when applying triangulation were: interviews, instructional observations, and a review of artifacts. Although the bulk of the data collection derived from interviews, the instructional observations and review of documents helped to authenticate the themes identified from the interviews while adding rigor to the study (Creswell, 2014; Lodico et al., 2010).

Validity of Data

Validity in research is imperative. Creswell (2014) defined validity as the internal and external believability of the methods used in research. Thus, several steps were taken to ensure validity. I conducted an extensive search on DI in relationship to SPED students and used that information to formulate research questions for my study. In addition, I also used the triangulation method by collecting data through semi structured interviews, instructional observations, and reviewing artifacts to record evidence from rural middle school teachers' experiences using the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom. This provided the reader with an in-depth understanding of the findings (Merriam, 2014). Creswell (2014) identifies three strategies used for validity in qualitative research: member checking, bias, and rich, thick descriptions. I established member checking throughout the data collecting process by providing each participant with a summary of his/her findings from the interview and a summary of the field notes collected from the instructional observations and review of artifacts. In addition, participants were able to notify me of any changes to the findings for accuracy. There were no changes that needed to be made. I was able to identify and maintain awareness of my personal bias. I set aside prejudice and predispositions during the data collection process by using an established protocol for the interviews, observations, and artifact reviews. The final verification of validity was the use of rich, thick descriptions. The open–ended questions utilized during the interview process allowed me to ask guiding questions and gave the participants an opportunity to provide detailed descriptions during their responses. Additionally, the data collected using the protocols for the observation and artifact review provided detailed descriptions of all the participants' experiences incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students in a middle school inclusion–based classroom. Utilizing these steps ensured the validity of the data.

Coding of Data

The purpose of coding data is to organize data using an inductive process to find repetitive patterns and thematic relationships from the transcriptions and field notes collected during the data collection process (Creswell, 2014; Yin, 2014). For each data collection tool used in this study, the data analysis involved hand–coding by highlighting emerging themes in different colors. This method provided me with the ability to see emerging themes and organize them in a systematic way.

Accuracy and Credibility

To maintain and improve reliability, accuracy, and credibility, the data from interviews, observations, and the review of documents were collected and triangulated to provide evidence of quality (Creswell, 2014; Yin, 2014). Using the triangulation process from multiple resources improved the accuracy and credibility of this study (Creswell, 2014). Creswell (2014) cited that credibility refers to the trustworthiness of the data collected, and the analysis conducted. Trustworthiness refers to the methods used to collect data and establishes authenticity for the results of the study (Creswell, 2014; Yin, 2014). The measures taken to achieve accuracy and credibility in this study included: member checking and the triangulation of more than one data collection tool. Member checking proved to be a significant part of my study, for all the participants could review the initial interpretations of the data to ensure accuracy of the analysis by the researcher and legitimize that the responses were accurately represented (Creswell, 2014). The data collections used in this study were: one 45-60 minute face-to-face, semi structured interviews with each participant, one 55–60 minute instructional observation of each participant, and one 15–20 minute review of documents (artifacts) for each participant. Each tool addressed the understanding and utilization of the components of DI to support SPED students in a middle school inclusion-based classroom setting and were aligned with the research questions.

Discrepant Cases

To reduce bias and support credibility, it was important to accurately report any discrepancies (Creswell, 2014; Yin, 2014). According to Creswell (2014), there could be contradictions, for reality can involve different viewpoints. Thus, it is imperative to provide information that is contradictory to thematic relationships since contradictory information can add to the credibility of the research (Creswell, 2014). The participants were interviewed, observed, and critiqued based on the artifact given for review. The data

collection tools were used to collect data regarding their experiences with using the components of DI, or lack therefore, to support SPED students in a middle school inclusion–based classroom. Discrepancies, if any, were accurately reported in the data collected and verified through member checking. However, there were no discrepancies reported. According to Creswell (2014), the purpose of reporting discrepant cases is to assure that the data is accurate and establish credibility.

Limitations

The limitations for this instrumental case study were that the study consisted of a small sample size and was specific to one rural middle school located in the Piedmont Region of South Carolina. According to Creswell (2014), a small sample and the geographic location of the study may reduce generalizability. It is possible that if the study were conducted in a different middle school, the results would be different due to the different experiences in teachers' use, or lack thereof, of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom.

Other limitations within this study were the data collection methods which included potentially inaccurate responses proved by the participants during the interview process (Yin, 2014). Yin (2014) conveyed that participants may provide inaccurate responses to provide the researcher with a reply that may be more acceptable to the researcher. Additionally, the observations were scheduled in advance; therefore, the lessons may not have been authentic and may have been created to please the researcher.

Another limitation identified for this study was my experiences, which may have easily influenced personal bias (Creswell, 2014). To alleviate this limitation, all personal beliefs and experiences were removed by using a scripted introduction, informed consents, and guided interview questions. Member checks were also utilized to eliminate personal bias.

Data Analysis Results

The process of collecting the data consisted of one 60 minute interview, one 60 minute instructional observation, and one 15–20 minute review of artifacts for each participant. Data analysis occurred three weeks after the data collection process. The method applied to each data collection tool is explained below. An analysis of each collection tool occurred separately after the collection of data for the identification of thematic relationships and patterns.

Interview Data

Data Collection Process

After I obtained IRB approval to conduct my study of rural middle school teachers' experiences with incorporating the components (content, process and product) of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom, purposeful sampling was used to locate and contact participants needed for this study. First, I contacted the district office via email requesting permission to collect data by interviewing and observing middle school teachers at the study site. Once I obtained permission, I contacted all the middle school teachers in grades 6–8 via email with an invitation to participate in my project study. This initial contact with teachers yielded 10 participants who agreed to participate in my study and met the criteria of teaching in an inclusion–based classroom. Next, I contacted each participant to set up interviews and observations

based on dates and times convenient for each participant. Before the start of each interview, each participant was presented with a detailed consent form that each participant signed, as well as, a reminder that the session would be audio–recorded and transcribed.

The protocol that I created was utilized during each interview. All the interviews were audio-recorded using my device. The participants answered four background questions, five questions on their knowledge and training, and three questions based on their instructional practices (Appendix B). In addition, the participants also answered clarifying questions asked by the researcher. All the recordings were downloaded and saved on the researcher's password–protected personal computer. After I completed each interview, I began to transcribe the data collected using Microsoft Word on a password– protected personal computer. I transcribed each participant's interview and then drafted a summary of each transcription which was sent via email to each participant for a member check. Each participant was given one week to review the findings and notify me of any necessary changes. No changes were necessary. All the notes that were taken during each interview were transported to my home and put into a safe place that was inaccessible until analysis could be conducted.

Interviews

All interviews were held in a public location that had an option for privacy. Each participant chose a site that was suitable for him/her. The sites consisted of teachers' classrooms and a conference room in the guidance office. The interviews lasted approximately between 45 and 55 minutes. Each participant answered the original 13

questions included in the protocol, as well as the follow–up questions that I asked for clarification. Once the interviews were completed, each participant was allowed to review a summary of the transcription to assure the accuracy of the data.

The interview process provided an understanding about the participants' experiences with and knowledge of DI to support SPED students within in middle school inclusion–based classroom. Additionally, it also provided information on any training, or lack thereof, which was noted during the instructional observation or review of artifacts. During each interview, I took notes to support coding and analysis. According to Creswell (2014), one of the significant roles of a researcher is that of a critical listener, for it is one of the primary data collecting instruments during the interview process.

How and When Data Was Analyzed

I used a voice recorder on my phone to audio–record all interviews. After each interview, and within 48 hours, I transcribed each interview using Microsoft Word. I also wrote a summary of each transcription and emailed the review of his/her interview to each participant to check for accuracy. Each participant was given one week to respond to the researcher with any necessary changes. After I transcribed each interview and member checking was completed, the initial reading of the transcripts began. During this initial reading, I made notes in the margins and noted essential details that were connected to the research questions.

Next, the data analysis process consisted of the second reading of each transcription and hand–coding for patterns and thematic relationships. Creswell (2014) and Yin (2014) noted hand–coding of interview data involved reading the data, marking it by hand, and color–coding the data based on themes. I then went through each transcription and highlighted the parts that matched each theme. As I reviewed each transcription, I looked to find similarities and differences between the participants' responses (Creswell, 2014; Yin, 2014). Then I noted common themes amongst the data collected from all participants. The themes that I created were: (1) Knowledge of DI, (2) Training/Professional Development (3) Resources/Support, (4) Implementing DI, and (5) Using Technology in DI. It took approximately three weeks to complete. I used a similar process for each of the data collection tools and each participant.

Patterns and Themes

Qualitative data were collected, which included responses from interviews, field notes from observations, and field notes from document reviews. The results are divided by the following research questions:

RQ1: What type of training, if any, have rural middle school teachers had with teaching the components (content, process and product) of DI within their inclusive classrooms to support SPED students?

RQ2: How do rural middle school teachers use the components of DI to support SPED students within an inclusion class?

RQ3: How do the components of DI used by the teachers at the school of study align with best practices in DI to support SPED students within an inclusion class?

RQ4: What challenges do middle school teachers at the school of study face with incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion class?

During the interview process, the teachers acknowledged the importance of using DI as an instructional strategy to support all students and how it could enhance the academic achievement for SPED students. However, they also expressed their challenges when incorporating the elements of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom. All the teachers were aware of the benefits of using DI within their inclusion–based classroom, but they lacked the time it took to plan and prepare adequately for it. Recurring themes were prevalent during the interviews: (1) Knowledge of DI, (2) Training/Professional Development (3) Challenges of DI, (4) Resources/Support, (4) Implementing DI, and (5) Using Technology in DI. Through my questioning, I was able to gather information about each teacher's teaching background, knowledge of DI, how they incorporate the elements of DI to support SPED students, challenges they experienced with using DI, and the training and professional development received (if any).

Each interview ranged from 45-60 minutes. The study sample included ten rural middle school teachers from grades 6–8: two ELA teachers, two math teachers, two science teachers, one ESOL teacher, one SPED inclusion teacher, and two social studies teachers (see Table 1).
Table 1

Teacher Demographic Information, Experience, Class Size, Number of SPED students, and Course (s) Taught

Participant	Gender	Experience	Class	Number of	Course(s) Taught
			Size	SPED Students	
А	F	3	25	13	7 th Grade ELA and 7 th
					Grade Social Studies
В	F	40	10	10	ESOL Class
C	Б	20	22	10	7th Crode Dro AD
C	Г	20	22	10	Mother 7th Creade AD
					Maill, / Glade AP
D	Б	20	22	15	Main 7 th Crode Science
D	Г	20	22	15	/ Grade Science
Е	F	8	23	10	6 th Grade Science
L	1.	0	23	10	0 Olade Science
F	Μ	2	20	14	7 th Grade Social
					Studies
G	Μ	8	22	17	8 th Grade Social
					Studies
Н	F	12	25	10	7 th Grade Pre–AP
					ELA; 7 th Grade AP
					ELA (Gifted and
					Talented)
Ι	F	27	15	15	7 th Grade Special
					Education and
					Inclusion Teacher
J	F	7	20	11	6 th Grade Math

The first three background questions were answered by all participants (Appendix B). The participants included two male teachers and seven female teachers. The participants reported having between two to 40 years of teaching experience. The class size range was between 10 and 25 students. The number of SPED students ranged from 10–17 students within their inclusion–based classrooms.

Questions 4–7, Knowledge and Training questions sought to answer RQ1: What types of training or professional development in DI, if any, have rural middle school teachers at the school of study attended? They also spoke to its follow up question: If he/she did not have any training, did he/she attempt to attend any professional development sessions or workshops geared toward DI? If he/she did attend any training or professional development, what did he/she find useful for supporting his/her diverse population in an inclusion–based classroom? The questions also addressed the participants' knowledge of DI (Appendix B). The interview addressed the following questions and responses of each participant.

Knowledge about DI: "What is your background knowledge about DI?" All the participants had basic knowledge of DI. It was a consensus that the knowledge and understanding they have about DI came from their studies as an undergraduate or graduate student. During the interview process, they also acknowledged the importance of using DI to support all students. To gather more information, I asked the participants to elaborate by asking, "How would you define DI?" Most of the teachers gave similar responses by acknowledging that all students learn on different levels and that DI can be used to benefit students, especially the SPED population. Teacher F stated, "It's meeting students where they are." Teacher H stated, "DI is providing students a different way of learning." Teacher J elaborated, "I think DI is using different learning styles to enhance student success." Teacher G expressed, "I really do not know a lot about DI other than what it has been told to me in various classes for alternative certification, but I know it's about meeting students where they are, which I struggle to do."

Furthermore, Teacher A expressed, "Really DI is meeting the students where they are but pushing them to the next level by offering different opportunities for them to show it." Finally, Teacher B stated, "DI is an instructional tool that uses different instructional strategies to meet individual student needs."

Training/Professional Development: "To your knowledge, how much training or professional development on using the components of DI to support SPED students is offered to middle school teachers?" Some of the teachers agreed that they have minimal to no training, and that there is a need for more training where DI is modeled for them. The responses varied on when they received any professional development or attended a workshop about DI and whether they found it beneficial.

Teacher H expressed that the best professional development she attended was a STEM workshop. She stated:

The school sent me to a STEM workshop. The basics of this workshop were using the four C's: communicate, collaborate, critical thinking, and creativity to differentiate instruction within classrooms. It was a chance for teachers in all content areas to share what instructional strategies and activities they were using to implement the 4 C's and what they found successful. The presenters provided us with examples of each component and modeled the use of the components. The teachers were given a chance to be the students as well. It was a great experience. However, I have not had any other professional development training on DI.

Teacher H felt that the workshop provided her with resources that she could use to enhance learning and increase student achievement amongst all students, stating, "It was refreshing to attend a workshop that was engaging and hands-on." Teacher H also stated that "Other than the STEAM training. I haven't had any other training or professional development in DI." In contrast, Teacher I said, "Since teaching middle school (she previously taught high school ELA), I have not been provided the opportunity to further my knowledge of DI. I do believe that DI is woven into other professional developments I have attended." I asked Teacher D to elaborate on the other professional developments she attended as it related to DI, she stated:

I participated in an ELA workshop on how to incorporate text-dependent analysis, TDA, and other literary components to strengthen students' reading skillsets. We learned about different strategies, such as summarizing, anticipation guides, and vocabulary building techniques that all students can benefit from using. However, it did not provide information on how to differentiate that.

Teacher A expressed that she has been offered various opportunities for professional development via departmental meetings. She stated, "I feel like more opportunities should have been presented. Although, we were given a snapshot on using DI, it was not modeled, and time was short." Teacher B, Teacher D, and Teacher G stated they received very little training in DI. Teacher G said, "We have been told by the administrative team to differentiate and show in our lesson plans how we were going to differentiate, but we were never shown what that looks like." Teacher C expressed, "There have not been any professional development opportunities that I am aware of that focus specifically on how to differentiate instruction for students with disabilities." In contrast, Teacher C, Teacher E, Teacher F, and Teacher J expressed that they have not been offered any form of training in DI.

Question 6 and Question 7: "If you were not offered any professional development, have you attempted to attend any professional development sessions geared toward DI? If so, what did you find useful? Explain?" Teacher D stated previously that he had little training, he said, "I had to read a book about DI. After reading the book, I had to apply the activities learned in order to meet the needs of my students. I found the information to be useful because it provided me with different strategies to add to my curriculum to create a meaningful learning environment, but it has not been modeled for me on what the implementation of these strategies would look like for my classes. It has to be ongoing, not just for a workshop or breakout session at the beginning of the year."

Teacher H previous stated that she did attend a professional development training. She stated, "I found the STEM workshop to be useful, especially the shared inquiry. It focused on critical thinking. Using the four C's ensures that the students are focused. The workshop showed how students could pull evidence to improve their writing." I followed Teacher H's response by asking, "How can the four C's be applied for special education students?" Teacher H stated, "I'm sure it can be applied with all students, including SPED students. However, it will take a lot of planning and collaborating to come up with an activity that is tailored to meet their learning needs." Teacher A expressed that, "Although we have had some professional development during planning, it has been hard finding PD on my own." Teacher B said, "Yes, I have attended an ESLO professional development training. I found it very useful. This training provided me with resources and skills for general education teachers to use when working with ESLO students." Teacher's C, E, and F stated they have not attempted to find any professional development related to DI. Numerous times throughout the interviews, the teachers voiced their interest in obtaining some professional development on how to incorporate the elements of DI to support all their students and enhance the learning to support the SPED students within their inclusion–based classrooms. Teachers D, E, F, G, and H stated that they have not been provided with professional development of any kind in approximately four years due various circumstances.

Challenges of DI: "What challenges, if any, do you face with using the components of DI to support SPED students in your inclusion–based classes?" All the participants agreed that the use of DI could be beneficial toward student achievement. However, they also agreed that there were some barriers. Many agreed that the challenges they faced were the varied levels within a class, lack of planning time, and a lack of resources.

Teacher D stated a major barrier to be the number of ESOL students in his classroom and trying to determine the best method to reach each of them. He said,

My largest class has 25 students. In that class, I may have 5–10 students who are ESOL or classified as SPED with an IEP. I have a hard time finding ways to reach those students. Our ESOL teacher will push in on various days to assist, but it's not enough. I'm always unsure if what I do is working or even if they understand.

Teacher E also commented on the varied levels of learning. She said, "My classroom includes students with a wide range of learning disabilities/challenges. I have

one class that includes students who have reading levels ranging from grade 2 to grade 6. It's difficult to differentiate while meeting everyone's needs with such a wide range of level abilities." Teacher J expressed, "My biggest challenge is creating lessons that are specific to each student's need." Teacher H stated his biggest challenge was foundational skills related to vocabulary. He stated,

I find it hard to teach any lesson when my students do not understand the vocabulary due to their level of learning. For example, I teach capitalism which is a free market. Then, I have to explain what a market is. This prevents me from really teaching to the standard when I spend so much time with vocabulary building. I still do not know the best way to reach my lower level learners while staying true to the content.

Teacher G stated, "My challenges are having varied learning levels within my class and not knowing if I'm actually meeting their needs." I asked the participant to elaborate, and he stated, "The administration team does not do a good job with communicating about PD and how to use DI within our classrooms. Issues with using DI are class size, lack of resources, lack of knowledge and no communication. They [district] give us a lot of "lip service" on things they have planned but there is no follow–through. I have basic knowledge of what DI is, but it has not been modeled. It's also difficult for me to differentiate any lesson when I have a large class with each student reading on different levels." Teacher B mentioned the lack of support. She stated, "As an ESOL teacher, the challenge I see is the lack of support for general education teachers." I asked her to explain, she stated, "General education teachers are asked to provide the same work to all students and are not given support on how to do so."

Questions 9–12, instructional practice questions, focused on the participants' instructional practices, including instructional strategies and planning (Appendix B). The following questions and responses addressed the participants' views.

Resources/Support: "What instructional tools, if any, might you need to effectively incorporate the components of DI to support SPED students within your inclusion–based classes?" During the interview, some teachers reported that it would be beneficial to overcome some of the challenges with incorporating the elements of DI by having more planning time, more resources, and a supportive, certified co–teacher. Teacher J expressed the need for more support. She stated, "I would like another teacher in my class to help support and assist me in how to tailor lessons based on the individual needs. At the beginning of the year, we had a SPED teacher push in. Apparently, it stopped without notice." I asked Teacher J to elaborate on her experiences with an additional teacher in her class. She stated,

Whenever the SPED teacher would push into my class, she was very helpful. She would assist all my students if needed, not just her SPED students. She would work with groups and read some text aloud.

Teacher I also expressed the need for support by a SPED certified teacher. She stated,

As a SPED teacher, I agree that general education teachers do need the extra support to combat the number of SPED students being mainstreamed. They [general education teachers] could benefit from planning with a SPED teacher, which would make teaching SPED student less stressful. However, the general education teacher has to be willing to step outside of "the box" and adapt to a new way of teaching.

Teacher F also commented on the need for more support within the classroom. He stated, "The resources needed to make my classroom more effective are PD training, an added endorsement in SPED and push in from SPED teachers." Teachers G, Teacher C, and Teacher H mentioned the need more hands-on materials, manipulatives, tiered/level learning activities, and more prep time. Teacher B, H, and I mentioned the use of technology to assist with differentiating instruction to support SPED students. Teacher B said, "My biggest challenge with differentiating instruction for my students is planning and availability." I asked her to elaborate. She stated, "Due to the lack of funding for ESLO teachers, I travel between two schools, which also puts some constraints on my time and availability to collaborate, plan, and be a resource for teachers." Teacher H expressed her biggest challenge with DI was timing and planning. She stated, "I personally believe the challenge for me is finding the time to plan properly." Teacher C also commented on time by saying, "It has been difficult to cover the content standards effectively in the amount of time given. When you only have 55-60 minute classes, it is hard to balance your time with students and meet the needs of your SPED students."

Implementing DI in Inclusion-Based Classrooms: "What instructional strategies are you currently using, if any, that are aligned with the components of DI to support SPED students in your inclusion–based classes?" All the participants spoke on using a plethora of strategies within their classes. However, they also stated that it takes a

lot of time to plan and prepare differentiated activities for their classes. Teacher C also commented on using varied learning strategies to support SPED students. She stated,

I try to include relevant, high–interest lessons, varied homework assignments, tiered lessons where students are assigned a different task but working on the same objective, interactive note booking, and group activities. However, it takes a lot of planning and preparation time to plan out an elaborate lesson to ensure all needs of students are being met.

Teacher E stated, "I use videos, some leveled articles, graphic organizers, infographics, diagrams, think-pair-share, creative writing, and guided notes, but depending on what is being covered, I may not have enough time to differentiate the content using those activities to see if my students as well as special students lack understanding." Teacher J expressed using reading scores to develop instructional strategies. She said, "I used their MAP scores to group students based on their reading levels. I choose different reading articles tailored to their reading level." Teacher H mentioned that she gives her students choices on how they would like to express their work. She stated, "I use choice menus for a lot of projects and other assessments. I provide students with tiered options from high-level thinking to low level." I asked her to explain more about the choice menus. She stated,

I have various. One that I use more frequently is the tick-tac-toe. With this option, the students can pick three choices, but only one can be a lower-level activity. The other two must be slightly higher. The points could range from 10 pts to 50 pts.

Teacher A stated, "I do one–on–one conferencing in small groups. I also use handouts that allow the students to fill in the blanks with a given word bank. I utilize sentence starters to help my students who struggle with writing, which is almost all of them."

Question 11asked: "What assessments do you use to assess SPED students' level of understanding according to your standards and the effectiveness of DI in your inclusion–based classroom?" All participants said they either read aloud their tests and quizzes to their students, or they have a read aloud feature on their computers that will read the text to them. Teacher D stated, "I shorten quizzes. Instead of giving them four answer choices, I will give three." Teacher E and H both stated that they use exit tickets, thumbs up/thumbs down, and whole–class discussions. Some of the teachers mentioned using state and district testing, such as MAP testing, benchmark testing, and USA Test Prep to assess students. Teacher C elaborated on the use of MAP testing by saying, "MAP testing allows me to make charts and graphs based on their math level. It gives me instant feedback." Teacher I mentioned using grading rubrics as form of assessment. Teacher A commented on the use of MAP scores, she stated, "In addition to MAP scores, I use open notes, drawings, and shortened questions."

Question 12: "If you use the components of DI within your inclusive classroom setting, what are some examples of activities you have used to engage your SPED students?" Teacher D stated, "I use projects to show levels of understanding." I asked the participant to elaborate on types of projects he has given. He stated, One of the projects that my students had to do was build a human body. As they learned about a system, I provided them with an organ associated with that system. They had to write something about the organ. I gave them the options to write an interesting fact about the organ or function. Once all the systems and organs were covered, they must build the human body. They also had to write about how the various systems were connected. They had to label all the systems and color code the organs associated with that system. The students were given a grading rubric to guide them in completing this project, as well as a model of what it should look like with step-by-step instructions.

Teacher H commented on the use of projects with her ELA students. She said, "One of the activities I have used with my students is called the Escape Room. The Escape Room is set up in stations. The stations are on all ability levels." Teacher G stated that he uses gallery walks. He stated, "Gallery walks are great way to assess student knowledge. I will post questions or images with a caption. The students are given time to walk around and write the answer to the question or their analysis of the image. After the allotted time, we will have a class discussion." Teacher I and Teacher J both expressed using literature circles, grouping, and book choice as activities to differentiate levels of understanding. Teacher E stated, "I use a lot of graphic organizers, interactive labs, lab stations, and color–coding activities with my science students." Teacher C commented about using foldable. She stated, "I have my students create a foldable on various math operations to help with building understanding."

Using Technology in DI: Teacher H stated, "I used Kahoot, an educational game to help with my diverse learners. I also use videos." Teacher I also commented on the use

of technology by stating, "I used a lot of video segments to discuss a particular topic and visual aids, such as pictures, to help teach my students new concepts." Teacher B, H, and I mentioned the use of technology to assist with differentiating instruction to support SPED students. Teacher B said, "I used Quizlet to help build vocabulary with my ESOL students. With this computer application, I can create quizzes, flashcards, and matching games to help build their vocabulary and understanding. It takes a good amount of planning to create the Quizlets to ensure that I am providing them the content of various subjects." Teacher A also mentioned the use of technology to differentiate the instruction in her inclusion-based classrooms, such as digital notebooks. She stated that this notebook is online, and it allows her SPED students a way of taking notes in class without having to write them down. In addition, she mentioned using a "flipped classroom." I asked her to explain. She stated, "A flipped classroom is when she records her lesson and uploads it for students to watch. This allows them to stop and play as they see fit." Teacher H, Teacher B, and Teacher I all stated they use collaborative teaching, technology, and guided notes to assist SPED students. Overall, all the participants expressed the need for more resources and materials to incorporate the components of DI effectively within their inclusion-based classrooms.

In summary, the data collected showed a discrepancy in the timing, planning, and lack of knowledge about DI. Individual interviews were conducted and provided data on the use, or lack thereof, of DI within an inclusion–based classroom. The data collected explored the experiences of rural middle school teachers and the challenges they are faced with, or lack thereof, when using DI to support SPED students in an inclusionbased classroom.

The responses of the participants in the interviews provided me with a deeper understanding of challenges associated with incorporating DI to support a diverse population. Participants revealed that DI, when used, can be beneficial to all students and enhance learning for SPED students. They also expressed the challenges in doing so. Participants felt they lacked the knowledge, time/preparation, resources/materials, and professional development training opportunities to be able to incorporate the elements of DI effectively. Through my findings, I discovered that many teachers were incorporating the use of technology as a resource to assist them with differentiating instruction for diverse students. However, it can be concluded that most teachers had a basic understanding of DI, but some teachers had a better understanding.

Observation Data

Data Collection Process

Once the interviews were completed, I conducted an instructional observation of each participant. Each participant scheduled an agreeable time and date with the researcher to observe his/her class for one hour. I followed the instructional observation protocol (Appendix C) and took notes during each observation.

A summary was provided to each participant after each observation as a member check. The participant was given one week to review the summary and send it back to the researcher with revisions, if needed. All the notes were transported to the researcher's home and locked in a filing cabinet until data analysis began.

Observations

Observations were conducted in each participant's classroom. Each participant provided a date and time that was convenient for them. The observation lasted approximately 60 minutes. The researcher utilized the observation protocol (Appendix C) to collect data. Participants could review a summary of the observation once each observation was completed to assure the accuracy of the data.

The observation process provided an understanding of the participants' use of DI within their inclusion–based classroom to support SPED students. My role during the observation included taking notes to support coding and analysis. One of the primary roles of the researcher was as a critical listener. According to Creswell (2014), critical listening is a data collection instrument the researcher uses during the observation process.

Findings Connected to the Problem Statement and Research Questions

The observation data addressed RQ2 and RQ3: How do rural middle school teachers use the components of DI to support SPED students? How do the components of DI that teachers use to help SPED students in an inclusion–based class align with best practices in DI? Each participant agreed to a 60–minute instructional observation. The researcher utilized the observation protocol checklist and took notes during the observation. The observation protocol list analysis looked for evidence associated with the components of DI (content, process and product). As I observed each class, I placed a check under the appropriate column: strong, adequate, or none, as it related to the evidence associated with the checklist (see Appendix C).

Seven out of the ten participants' observations presented adequate evidence showing the use of DI within their inclusion–based classrooms. All 10 of the participants had their standards and objectives for the lesson posted on the board. Participants A, B, and I read the objectives aloud to the students letting them know what they will know and understand from the lesson being presented. In all the classes observed, the students were engaged during the lesson. Students were raising their hands to participate and answer questions.

Three of the ten participants showed strong evidence of DI with the layout of their classroom creating accessibility to grouping for teacher and student engagement. Participant A, an ELA class, had her desks arranged in groups of four. She also had a semi-circle table where she did a conference with students on their writing. Similarly, Participant D, a science teacher, had his desks arranged in groups of four. Participants B and I also had a semi-circle table that allowed approximately five students to sit at the table with a teacher. At the time of their observations, both teachers were working with students individually, while the other students were working independently on another assignment given by the teacher.

All ten of the participants showed adequate evidence of their use of materials and resources. All the participants had Smartboards within their classrooms, as well as Chromebooks for student use. All the participants used their Smartboards to present their instruction or integrated the use of the Chromebooks. Participant C, D, and E required their students to use interactive notebooks to keep and store all the information that was given by their teacher. I observed students cut and pasting foldables inside their interactive notebooks, as well as taking notes.

A majority of the participants showed adequate use of various instructional strategies during their inclusion-based classes. Participant A had her students annotating in their notebooks while she read a book aloud to them. She modeled how to annotate while the students followed along in their notebooks. During the modeling, she explained her thinking while making connections to the learning objective. Participant E also used a variety of instructional strategies to deliver her content. She began the class with "Buzz Questions," which students were prompted to answer using their Chromebooks. She showed a small video clip on the content being covered. She also asked a variety of questions about the video throughout her lesson. The questions were purposeful and connected to the lesson's learning objective.

Seven of the ten participants accessed prior knowledge during the class by starting class off with some form of five-minute warm-up. The warm-ups consisted of a writing prompt, multiple-choice questions, or an image to access prior knowledge drawing connections to the standard. Although many of the participants did not show evidence of student choice, Participant A and E provided their students with choice. Participant A gave her students a choice to read for 20 minutes or write at the start of class. Participant E gave her students a choice to write a summary of their science article on notebook paper, type it using their Chromebooks, or draw a picture to display the contents of the article. Although the findings from the interview process reflected teachers' acknowledgement of the importance of using DI to support all students, during the observations, there appeared to be a consensus amongst all the participants that there is a lack of time to incorporate DI within their inclusion–based classrooms to help SPED students. The data collected also reflect teachers' willingness to attempt to incorporate DI, but knowledge and understanding of how to effectively implement and utilize the components of DI is not always transferred to the classroom.

Review of Documents Data

Data Collection Process

The participants submitted three artifacts of their choice for analysis. The artifacts were given to me during each interview. Among the documents presented were lesson plans, classwork/worksheets, project descriptions, and assessments. Materials were transported to the researcher's home and locked in a filing cabinet until the data analysis process began.

Review of Documents

The analysis of documents was conducted in a conference room at the study site. Participants submitted a minimum of three artifacts of their choice during the interview process. Each review of documents lasted approximately 15–20 minutes. I utilized the document protocol checklist established for the analysis of documents (Appendix D). The review of documents process provided insight into each participant's use of DI to reinforce what was noted during each interview and observation. My role during the review of documents was to take notes on patterns and note connections related to the thematic relationships coded from the interviews and observations. During the investigation of each document, I used a checklist (Appendix D) to analyze the use of DI. I then rated the participants according to the documents presented as strong, adequate, and none. Upon completion of the review, a copy of the findings from each document review was returned to each participant. All participants approved the findings.

Findings Connected to the Problem Statement and Research Questions

The review of documents addressed RQ2 and RQ3: How do rural middle school teachers use the components of DI to support SPED students in an inclusion–based class? How do the elements of DI that teachers use align with best practices in DI for SPED students in an inclusion–based class? The participants were asked to submit any documents that showed evidence of DI that would help to support SPED students. The documents submitted were classwork/worksheets, project descriptions, lesson plans, and assessments.

Lesson plans. Of the ten participants, three teachers submitted lesson plans for the review of documents. The intended purpose of the lesson plans was to look for evidence of DI: activities aligned with standards, variety of activities, evidence of small groups/flexible learning, and implementation of ongoing assessments (formal or informal). Teacher H, Teacher F, and Teacher D submitted lessons plans. (See Figure 1-

3)

Evidence of DI → ¤	Strong	Adequate	Nonero	Ω
Lesson planned for diverse students a	α	X¤	¤	α
Implementation of ongoing	α	¤	α	α
assessments¤ Lesson∙support∙standards/content∙	Xα	¤	α	α
and topics ¤ Use of a variety of instructional	Xα	α	α	α
strategies and activities used to				
Evidence of small groups or flexible	α	X¤	α	¤
learning¤ Evidence of projects and problem-	Xα	¤	α	a
solving activities¤ Evidence of student choice	n	n	Vα	~
activities	~~	~	AM	

Figure 1. Teacher H Review of Documents (Lesson Plans)

Evidence of DI → ¤	Strong	Adequate	None [.] ¤	α
Lesson planned for diverse students ¤	α	Χα	α	α
Implementation of ongoing	α	Xα	α	α
Lesson-plans-support-standards/content-	Xα	α	¤	α
Use of a variety of instructional strategies and activities used to teach	Χ¤	α	¤	¤
the lesson¤ Evidence of small groups or flexible	Xα	α	α	α
Evidence of projects and problem-	α	Xα	α	α
Evidence of student choice activities	α	α	Xα	α

Figure 2. Teacher H Review of Documents (Lesson Plans)

Evidence of DI → ¤	Strong	Adequate	None [.] ¤	α
Lesson planned for diverse students Ξ	α	Xα	α	¤
Implementation of ongoing assessments ³³	α	Xα	α	¤
Lesson plans support standards and topics¤	X¤	¤	α	α
Use of a variety of instructional strategies and activities used to teach the lesson	α	α	X¤	¤
Evidence of small groups or flexible learning	α	X¤	α	α
Evidence of projects and problem-	α	α	Xα	α
Evidence of student choice activities	¤	α	Xα	α

Figure 3. Teacher F Review of Documents (Lesson Plans)

Participant H listed her standards and objectives for the lesson being taught. She recorded the vocabulary associated with the lesson. She also listed all the supplies/materials the students will be using throughout the lesson. On her lesson plans, she had a section listing how she planned to differentiate her instruction: using guided notes, ESOL students were given copies of guided records in Spanish and English as well as PowerPoint copies in Spanish translated to English. She had a variety of ongoing assessments: Kahoot answer, illustration activity, and homework.

Participant F had social studies standards and objectives listed at the top of his lesson plans. He also had a list of vocabulary words that the students will be using during this lesson. He recorded a variety of activities and the implementation of technology to engage his students and appeal to his SPED population, such as video clips, graphic organizers, and collaborative pairs. His ongoing assessments were Web Quests on a famous medieval figure, quizzes, and "war games". However, there was no evidence of student choice.

Participant D submitted his lesson plans for review. He had the standard and objectives listed, and an activity that was aligned with the standard. I also noted that he recorded the vocabulary that students should know for this standard. For assessments, he listed "teacher observation". However, he listed some ongoing assessments under homework (i.e., lab report, complete chemical formula color sheet). He also had a section titled "differentiated instruction". In this section, there were sub-headings: At-Risk and Accelerated. For at–risk, he listed how he was going to differentiate instruction using visual aids and/or teacher assistants. For accelerated, he listed "work independently" and "visual aids". Although he had what type of lesson he was going to deliver, he did not list how he was going to execute the activities. There was not any indication for student choice presented on the lesson plans. He included what type of lesson he was going to deliver, but he did not list how he was going to execute the activities. There was not an indication for student choice presented on the lesson plan.

Classwork/worksheets Four of the participants submitted documents in this category. The documents included graphic organizers, writing assignments, labeling diagrams, concept maps, and comprehension questions. The purpose of each of the documents submitted was for students to apply their understanding of the concepts being covered or to review the concepts that have been covered in class (see Figure 4-6).

Evidence of DI → ¤	Strong	Adequates	None [.] ¤	¤
				_
Lesson planned for diverse students ¤	α	X¤	α	α
$Implementation \text{ of } \text{ongoing } assessments^{\square}$	¤	X¤	¤	α
Lesson plans support standards and	Xα	α	α	α
topics¤				
Use of a variety of instructional	α	α	Xα	α
strategies and activities used to teach the				
lesson¤				
Evidence of small groups or flexible	α	Xα	α	α
learning¤				
Evidence of projects and problem-	α	α	Xα	α
solving activities ^{II}				
Evidence of student choice activities ^{III}	α	α	Xα	α

Figure 4. Teacher B Review of Documents (Classwork/Worksheet)

Evidence of DI → ¤	Strong	Adequate	None [.] ¤	¤
Lesson planned for diverse students a	¤	X¤	α	¤
$Implementation \cdot of \cdot ongoing \cdot assessments^{\square}$	α	X¤	α	¤
Lesson-plans-support-standards-and- topics¤	Xα	α	α	¤
Use of a variety of instructional strategies and activities used to teach the	¤	X¤	α	α
lesson¤ Evidence of small groups or flexible learning¤	α	X¤	α	¤
Evidence of projects and problem-	α	¤	Xα	α
Evidence of student choice activities	¤	α	X¤	¤

Figure 5. Teacher G Review of Documents (Classwork/Worksheet)

Evidence of DI → ¤	Strong	Adequate	None [.] ¤	α
Lesson-planned for diverse students a	α	X¤	¤	¤
$Implementation \cdot of \cdot ongoing \cdot assessments^{\square}$	α	X¤	α	α
Lesson plans support standards and	Xα	¤	α	α
Use of a variety of instructional strategies and activities used to teach the	α	X¤	α	α
lesson¤				
Evidence of small groups or flexible learning¤	α	α	Xα	α
Evidence of projects and problem-	α	X¤	α	α
Evidence of student choice activities	α	X¤	¤	α

Figure 6. Teacher G Review of Documents (Classwork/Worksheet)

Participant B, ESOL teacher, submitted a worksheet on prefixes and making connections to the learning objectives. Prefixes was defined at the top of the worksheet. It provided a prefix and meaning. The students had to circle the prefixes in each sentence. On the back of the worksheet, the students were required to pick three of the prefixes and create a new word which assessed the student's level of understanding. The document did not display evidence of projects/problem–solving or small groups/flexibility. The students were not given another option to show their level of understanding on this handout.

Participant G, a social studies teacher, submitted two graphic organizers on the content that was covered during his observation. The worksheet was connected to the learning objective. One the worksheets had some answers already filled it (lower level students), and the other had no answers filled in. The students had to use their notes

complete the worksheet. The worksheet did not show evidence of student choice or projects/problem–solving.

Participant E, a science teacher, submitted a worksheet that required the students to label, color, draw, and answer questions about what they were learning, providing the students with a variety of ways to display their understanding. The worksheet required the students to interpret and analyze information showing adequate evidence of problem–solving. However, the worksheet did not show evidence of flexible or small grouping.

Projects. One of the participants submitted project descriptions. The documents included were individual projects and group projects with writing or presentation components. The students had the option to turn in a written document or present their work via Google Slides. All documents aligned with the state standard and objectives (see Figure 7).

Evidence of DI → ¤	Strong	Adequate	None [.] ¤	α
				_
Lesson planned for diverse students ¤	α	Xα	α	α
$Implementation \circ f \cdot ongoing \cdot assessments^{\square}$	α	X¤	α	α
Lesson plans support standards and	Xα	¤	α	α
Use of a variety of instructional	α	X¤	α	α
strategies and activities used to teach the lesson¤				
Evidence of small groups or flexible	α	α	Xα	α
Evidence of projects and problem-	Χα	α	α	α
Evidence of student choice activities ^{II}	Xα	α	α	α

Figure 7. Teacher Review of Documents (Assessment)

Participant A, an ELA teacher, submitted a project description about mental disorders. The students were given a choice as to what disorder they wanted to research. They were also given a choice on how they wanted to present their findings (i.e. foldable, PowerPoint, or poser board). A grading rubric was also attached to the project description. The assessment had measurement criteria and measured student performance in more than one way. She was assessing their writing, content, and creativity. The project was aligned with the standard and learning objectives being taught. The project was individualized; therefore, no evidence was presented showing small groups or problem–solving activities.

Assessments. Three of the participants submitted an assessment, either a test or quiz. The purpose of each assessment was to determine the students' level of knowledge and understanding of the topic being covered (see Figure 8–10).

Evidence of DI → ¤	Strong	Adequate	None [.] ¤	α
Lesson-planned for diverse students :2	α	X¤	α	¤
$Implementation \cdot of \cdot ongoing \cdot assessments^{\square}$	α	X¤	¤	α
Lesson plans support standards and topics¤	Xα	α	α	α
Use of a variety of instructional strategies and activities used to teach the	¤	X¤	α	α
lesson¤ Evidence of small groups or flexible learning¤	¤	X¤	α	α
Evidence of projects and problem-	α	X¤	α	α
Evidence of student choice activities	¤	α	Xα	α

Figure 8. Review of Documents (Assessment)

Evidence of DI → ¤	Strong	Adequate	None [.] ¤	¤
Lesson planned for diverse students a	α	¤	Xα	¤
$Implementation \cdot of \cdot ongoing \cdot assessments \square$	α	X¤	α	α
Lesson plans support standards and topics¤	Xα	α	α	α
Use of a variety of instructional strategies and activities used to teach the	α	α	Χα	¤
lesson¤ Evidence of small groups or flexible	α	X¤	α	¤
learning ^{Cl} Evidence of projects and problem-	¤	Xα	α	α
Evidence of student choice activities	α	α	Xα	α

Figure 9. Teacher C Review of Document (Assessment)

Evidence of DI → ¤	Strong	Adequate	None [.] ¤	α
Lesson planned for diverse students a	α	X¤	α	¤
$Implementation \circ of \circ ongoing \cdot assessments^{\square}$	α	X¤	¤	α
Lesson plans support standards and	Xα	α	¤	α
Use of a variety of instructional strategies and activities used to teach the	α	α	Χ¤	α
lesson¤ Evidence of small groups or flexible learning♡	¤	X¤	¤	α
Evidence of projects and problem-	α	α	Xα	α
solving-activities [®] Evidence-of-student-choice-activities [®]	¤	α	Xα	α

Figure 10. Teacher J Review of Documents (Assessment)

Participant I submitted a 25–question assessment. She stated, "I gave this assessment via Google Forms." She proceeded to say, "Many of my students have oral accommodations, and the Chromebooks have a read–aloud application that students can access. The computer will read the questions and answer choices out to the students once the students are finished. Upon the submission of their quiz, the students will receive their score." The assessment submitted was a multiple-choice reading quiz. However, the questions were short and concise, with fewer answer choices. The assessment was aligned with state content standards.

Participant C, a math teacher, also submitted a Google Form for review of documents. It was a 20-question math test using rational and irrational numbers. She stated, "I provide each student with a hard copy of the test allowing the students to show how they solved the problems and circle their answer. Once they have completed their test, each student is required to submit their answers using the Google Form." The assessment provided measured student performance in the form of multiple choice. The assessment was aligned with state standards.

Participant J, an ELA teacher, submitted a 20-question reading comprehension assessment. The students had to read a passage and answer some questions related to the passage. The assessment had more than one way to measure student performance: multiple-choice, short answer, and essay. She presented evidence of having small groups with her assessment. When she submitted her assessment, she informed the researcher that she often forms a small group within her class to read the test aloud for those students who have oral accommodations. The assessment was aligned with state content standards. There was no evidence of student choice. The assessment was aligned with state content standards.

The review of documents showed teachers incorporating some components of DI within their inclusion–based classrooms. The data collected also reflect teachers' willingness to attempt to incorporate DI, but knowledge and understanding of how to effectively implement and utilize the components of DI is not always transferred to instructional practices.

Thematic Patterns Between Data Sources

Yin (2014) recommends conducting analysis for patterns between data sources. The data sources used for this study involved responses from interviews, field notes from observations, and field notes from reviewed documents. Five thematic relationships emerged from the data: (1) Knowledge, (2) Training/Professional Development (3) Challenges of DI, (4) Resources/Support, (4) Implementing DI, and (5) Using Technology in DI.

Through data analysis, I provided an adequate understanding to show how Tomlinson's Theory of DI framework encompasses middle school teachers' understanding of incorporating the components of DI to enhance learning for all students, especially SPED students. According to Tomlinson (2000a), DI is a commonsense approach to teaching diverse learners in mixed ability classroom which focuses on effective instructional strategies to maximize student abilities to learn as a result of their teacher's ability to respond each student's unique style of learning (Tomlinson, 2005a). Using an assortment of instructional strategies to differentiate content, process and product will allow teachers to meet the learning needs of more students because they are addressing the variability in students' readiness levels, interests, and learning preferences (Tomlinson, 2000b; Tomlinson & McTighe, 2006).

The results of the data analysis point to the need for administration and district officials to provide quality professional development (PD) opportunities for middle school teachers in using the components of DI to support all students, which will enhance the learning of their SPED population. Many of the participants stated that they would like more support to combat the challenges of incorporating DI within their inclusion– based classes. Administrators and district officials will need to provide the time and resources necessary to organize a professional development program or workshop on DI specializing in SPED or diverse learners. Having a professional development workshop will give general education middle school teachers the knowledge and training necessary to effectively incorporate the components of DI to support their SPED population. According to Tomlinson & Allan (2000), effective professional development using DI provides knowledge and understanding teachers need to vary the instruction within their classrooms.

Conclusion

An instrumental case study design was used to explore rural middle school teachers' experiences using the components of DI to support SPED students within their inclusion–based classrooms. Individual interviews, instructional observations, and a review of documents were conducted and provided data on teachers' experiences with using DI and the challenges they may face. Data from the interviews, along with field notes from the observations and a review of documents, were hand–coded to help identify possible thematic relationships and patterns. The information collected provided the researcher with a deeper understanding of the challenges associated with incorporating DI within middle school inclusion–based classrooms. There was a consensus amongst the participants about the benefits of using DI to enhance student achievement for the SPED population, but the data also revealed the challenges the middle school teachers faced with doing so. Participants felt that more resources, more time/preparation, and more professional development opportunities would better equip them for using DI within their middle school inclusion–based classes.

In section 3, I will discuss the project derived from studying the literature. In section 4, I will include a reflection of the project. The reflection will consist of the

project study's limitations, strengths, and potential impact on social change, as well as self–analyses, project implications, applications, and directions for future research.

Section 3: The Project

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative instrumental case study was to explore rural middle school teachers' experiences incorporating DI components (content, process and product) with SPED students in an inclusion classroom. Findings from current literature and this study support the need for professional development that will address middle school teachers' understanding of DI and demonstrate how to incorporate the components to support SPED students within their inclusion–based classrooms. Middle school teachers at the study site presented challenges with incorporating DI in their inclusion–based classes. Data collected indicate a need for professional development regarding incorporating DI components to enhance achievement for SPED students in inclusion–based classes. I developed a project to address these challenges and to consider ways middle school teachers could overcome them.

I created a three-day professional development training that focused on enhancing middle school teachers' understanding of DI components and the ability to use different models of DI to support SPED students in their inclusion–based classes. First, teachers need a clear understanding of DI components. Next, teachers need DI instructional strategies that are aligned with the standards so that the components can be incorporated in their classrooms in a timely, practical way. Finally, teachers need time to collaborate and develop lessons that embrace the elements of DI and then create instructional material to implement those lessons. The goal of this professional development workshop is to increase the DI effectiveness by enhancing middle school teachers' knowledge and

understanding of DI components. In addition, the professional development workshop will provide instructional strategies aligned with teachers' existing standards so that the teachers can implement DI elements and support SPED students in their inclusion–based classes.

Rationale

Five themes emerged from the data in this study: (a) knowledge of DI, (b) training/professional development, (c) resources/support, (d) implementing DI, and (e) using technology in DI. The participants feared that implementing DI components would impact the amount of time they have to teach content. Participants also did not feel appropriately knowledgeable of DI components. Finally, all participants expressed a need for professional development that would include methods of using of DI components in classrooms, support all students, and enhance learning for SPED students.

This professional development program is based on current literature. According to Avalos (2011), effective professional development creates a learning community for educators to collaborate and share resources that will enhance student achievement. Effective professional development programs offer instruction in pedagogy and should encompass seven components: teaching communities, leadership, resources, data, learning design, implementation, and outcomes (Fullan et al., 2014)

Findings from the data collected showed that some teachers attended professional development in which they were exposed to DI strategies; however, many of them felt that more training was needed to implement DI in their classes. To their knowledge, the district has not offered any professional development on DI.

The project was designed with adult learners in mind. There are six components necessary to support adult learning: (a) need for knowledge, (b) controlling individualized learning, (c) real–life experiences, (d) preparedness to learn, (e) exposure to learning, and (f) intrinsic motivation (Jordan, 2016). Additionally, the components of adult learning need to be established and job–embedded within professional development activities (Houk, 2010). Jordan's (2016) adult learning components were considered when creating the project to increase teacher knowledge and skills.

The key findings from this study provided the framework for a three-day professional development program to support middle school teachers' understanding of the components of DI and enhance the learning of SPED students. Teachers may better understand strategies used to align the existing standards and content with DI components to meet the needs of students in an inclusion–based class. The middle school teachers will be exposed to different models of DI, as well as DI activities that can be used during their classroom instruction. Additionally, the professional development program will provide teachers a chance to collaborate and develop lessons that include DI components and activities associated with improving student achievement for diverse learners. Providing middle school teachers this professional development program may lead to an increase in the effective use of DI in inclusion–based classes at the school of study.

Review of the Literature

I conducted an exhaustive search and analysis of peer–reviewed research articles using Google Scholar and Walden University library resources such as ERIC and Educational Research Complete. Keywords searched include: *DI, effective professional development, adult learning,* and *professional learning communities.* The literature review supported a three-day professional development workshop on incorporating DI components to support SPED students and increase student achievement within inclusion–based classes. The professional development workshop will also provide middle school teachers with strategies to overcome challenges when implementing DI.

Professional development. The program I created for this study was a professional development program aimed at increasing teacher understanding and effective incorporation of DI components (content, process and product) in the curriculum to support all students, including SPED students. Professional development programs provide educators with a way to cultivate skills and stay well informed with the latest trends in education. According to Williford et al. (2017) and Edinger (2017), professional development is a pivotal component in advancing the effectiveness of teachers in raising student achievement through a sustained, comprehensive, and intensive approach toward classroom success. Professional development is about how teachers learn and transform their knowledge into practice to improve student skills and experience in class (Avalos, 2011; Lunsford, 2017). Teachers need visual models of training, opportunities, and support to acquire new knowledge to advance their teaching
styles over an extended period as they attempt to use their curriculum (Donovan et al., 1999; Lunsford, 2017).

Research shows that professional development is needed for novice teachers more so than veteran teachers. According to Thornton (2013), novice teachers could benefit more from the incorporation of professional development in DI, for they have less exposure to examples of DI. Veteran teachers are more inclined to use DI but may not develop a sensitive disposition necessary for professional development (Thornton, 2013). Maintaining responsive placement is essential for student achievement of middle school students, according to Avery (2017). Thornton (2013) concluded that responsive installation increased with teacher preparation programs focusing on best practices, such as DI. Avery (2017) stated that veteran teachers often find professional development challenging. However, Burridge and Carpenter (2013) cited that veteran teachers often adapt new practices within their own teacher identities when considering the implementation of DI.

Furthermore, researchers convey that teacher education programs and continued professional development, mentoring, and co-teaching will foster highly responsive teaching (Thornton, 2013). Professional development can help teachers ensure that students are successful in meeting the state proficiency standards for the subjects they teach. With the incorporation of active professional development, teachers will be better equipped meet the requirements of their diverse students (Burridge & Carpenter, 2013).

Unfortunately, the money that schools invest in teachers' professional development does not always result in improved classroom instructional practices.

According to Calvert (2016), school districts spend an annual average of \$8,000 to \$12,000 on professional development per teacher. However, professional development programs have been criticized for their ineffectiveness (Feist, 2003; Gore et al., 2017; Gutierez & Kim, 2014). According to Gore et al. (2017) and Gutierez and Kim (2014), the ineffectiveness of professional development is due to not understanding the needs of adult learners or andragogy (Knowles, 1973).

According to Bates (2017), adult learning is influenced by experiences and self– concepts. It requires an understanding of building upon the learners' prior knowledge and cultural experiences (Bates, 2017). Recognizing the needs of adult learners allows for more significant opportunities to build self–efficacy while learning and growing as educators.

Effective professional development utilizes the principles outlined by Knowles (1984) while enhancing teacher knowledge of the subject matter and providing teachers with sustained support and coaching. Effective professional development is also an opportunity for districts to invest in teachers and strengthen their commitment and retention (Ladd, 2011; Smith & Rowley, 2014). According to Learning Forward (n.d.), effective professional development should have learning communities, leadership, resources, data, learning design, implementation, and outcomes (Standards for Professional Learning). Avalos (2011) stated that professional learning is "cognitive and emotional involvement of teachers individually and collectively for the betterment of student achievement" (p. 11). Professional development is also a learning community that allows educators to collaborate and share knowledge that will ultimately cultivate a

"learning school" (Killion & Roy, 2009). Killion and Roy (2009) defined a "learning school as a place where every student benefits from the knowledge gathered from his or her colleagues" (p. 17). Collaboration is noted as being a powerful way of ensuring excellent teaching for every student (Killion & Roy, 2009).

Professional development and modeling differentiated instruction. The goal of professional development is to improve the effectiveness of a teacher's curriculum (Slater, 2017; DeVeve et al., 2014). According to Slater (2017), teachers are expected to use DI within their classrooms; however, it should be modeled during training sessions. Teacher self-efficacy and student achievement increase when DI is modeled during professional development and educators are supported in implementing DI. According to DeVeve et al. (2014), the incorporation of professional development enhances teacher ability to execute effective DI within the classroom. In contrast, teacher inexperience will inhibit implementation of DI. Furthermore, teachers in all disciplines can benefit from participating in a professional development program to improve content knowledge, enhance student achievement by showing performance–based mastery of skills, and focus on deeper knowledge competencies (National Commission on Teaching & America's Future [NCTAF], 2016). Professional Learning Communities (PLCs) are an engaged ongoing collaboration of teachers and staff that identify and work toward common goals, disseminate knowledge, and reflect on individual practices (Smith, 2012; Tan & Caleon, 2016). According to Bowe and Gore (2017), PLCs support participants in sharing ideas and best teaching practices. A study was conducted by William (2013) in a Texas school district where teachers were placed into a PLC to show the impact PLCs have on student

achievement. Data were collected over a 5–year period and the results revealed student achievement improved over three of the five years due to PLCs. The PLCs also contributed to teacher self–efficacy within their discipline and improved team–building skills (Smith, 2012).

Houd (2010) cited five attributes of an effective PLC: (a) supportive and shared leadership, (b) shared inventiveness, (c) shared ideas and beliefs, (d) supportive situations, and (e) shared reflective self–practices. The implementation of the five attributes may ensure a successful PLC. PLC implementation can allow for: teachers to reach common goals, become involved in meaningful dialogue, generate opportunities for reflection, and ensure accountability for results (Svanbjornsdottir, Macdonald, & Frimannson, 2016).

Collaboration. Collaborative professional learning involves educators working together to improve their knowledge and practice while enhancing their teaching. Morrissey (2000) stated "teacher and administrator learning are more complex, more in–depth, and more fruitful in a social setting...participants can interact, test their ideas, and challenge their inferences and interpretations, and process new information with each other" (Killion & Roy, 2009, p. 27). Allowing an environment in which conversations regarding how to enhance student achievement take place is the foundation for effective professional development.

The concept of collaboration is one of the hallmarks of effective professional development. According to Harmon (2017), collaboration is the highest level of organization because expertise from everyone involved is synthesized, resulting in new

idea or products. Garret et al. (2001) mentioned that it is a platform where groups of teachers can collectively participate, resulting in improvements in teacher knowledge, skill, and changes in practices. Furthermore, collaboration allows teachers a learning environment that enables them to share goals and create learning communities.

Project Description

The purpose of professional development is to improve the effectiveness of a teacher's curriculum (DeVeve et al., 2014; Slater, 2017). The goal of the professional development program is to increase rural middle school teachers' knowledge of DI components and provide strategies they can use to overcome challenges when faced with incorporating the components to support SPED students. The project consists of a three-day training session; each session is approximately eight hours long.

On the first day, teachers will focus on creating an understanding of what DI is and learning different strategies that could be used in their middle school inclusion–based classrooms to support all students while maximizing student achievement for SPED students. This session will also include modeling of the strategies so that teachers can see what DI will look like in their classes. The second day will focus on the different models of DI. The first half of the session will focus on understanding inclusion and what it looks like. The second half of the session will focus on assisting middle school teachers with getting to know their students' strengths and weaknesses through various strategies. Finally, the third full day will concentrate on synthesizing the content. The middle school teachers will observe, reflect, and collaborate while seeing other teachers using models of DI. They will also have a chance to work on creating lessons to include the elements of DI.

Resources and support. The school of choice has many of the resources needed for this project to be implemented. The school has Internet access, Smartboards, and projectors available to use in the professional development room. However, the teachers will need their school–issued laptop to access their standards, content, and learning objectives. They may choose to take notes using Google Doc, Microsoft Word, or paper and pen/pencil. The presenter will also need copies of all handouts to give to the participants. The participants will be given a folder with all the handouts presented during the session.

Potential barriers and solutions. This project has been designed to be presented to all middle school teachers and SPED teachers at the middle schools in the district of study. Two potential barriers to this project are limited funding for substitute teachers so that teachers can attend the professional development program, and the availability of time during which to schedule the program. One possible solution would be to utilize three out of the five days the district has designated for professional development days or three of the four days the district has designated for teacher workdays for this professional development workshop. This solution will eliminate the need for substitute teachers, as those days are already designated as non–student contact days. This solution will also address the issue of scheduling time for training and allow teachers time after the session to reflect or collaborate.

Other potential barriers could be the potential lack of support from the administrative team for the implementation of this professional development workshop. Also, teachers may not actively take part in the session, which could ultimately influence teacher buy-in. Both administration and middle school teachers have expressed the need for training so that they may understand DI components and subsequently align those components with their content standards to enhance learning for all students, including the SPED students in inclusion-based classes. Thus, support should not be an issue at the study site. It is suspected that the middle school teachers and administrative team will have a positive attitude and buy-in as they gain a better and clearer understanding of how to incorporate DI effectively and consistently.

Proposal for implementation and project timetable. It is essential to share findings from this study with local school administrators and community stakeholders. The proposed project is a three–day program (Appendix A). The timetable for this professional development workshop will be August 11th and August 13–14th, 2020. Each session will take place from 8:00 am to 3:00 pm. The first day the teachers will focus on creating an understanding of what DI is and learning different strategies that could be used in their middle school inclusion–based classrooms to support all students while maximizing student achievement for SPED students. The workshop will include video clips showing examples detailing teachers' experiences implementing DI. Teachers will be encouraged to openly discuss their challenges for aligning DI components with their content standards. The presenter will also offer solutions to overcome those challenges and share best practices they can incorporate in inclusion–based classrooms.

The second day will focus on different models of DI. The teachers will watch video clips of different models of DI (co-teaching models, small group instruction, and cooperative learning) and focus on getting to know their students. During the third session, the participants will observe, reflect, and collaborate after seeing other teachers using strategies aligned with the components of DI, as well as have time to create lesson plans using those components.

Roles and responsibilities. Several roles and responsibilities will be involved in the success of this professional development program. First, the Director of Secondary Instruction for the district needs to approve the dates and times, as well as give permission for the program to be used at the middle schools. Secondly, as the facilitator, I will oversee the implementation of the program, ensuring that the participants have the necessary materials for a successful program. Finally, teacher buy—in is essential to the success of the program. It is the role and the responsibility of all middle school teachers to ensure that students are successful by approaching this professional development program with a willingness to learn and implement the skills/tools provided. Critical roles of leadership, the facilitator, and teachers must work cohesively for the professional development program to be successful.

Project Evaluation Plan

At the end of the each of the first two sessions, each participant will be invited to complete a formative evaluation to assess the effectiveness of this project and provide feedback on their experiences. The evaluations will help the facilitator determine the strengths and weaknesses of the first two sessions of the program and allow the facilitator to make any necessary changes for future sessions. The third evaluation will include a summative evaluation provided to the participants three to four weeks after the training sessions. The goal of the summative evaluation is to determine if the goals of the project were accomplished. The evaluations will provide feedback on whether the participants feel more knowledgeable about DI components and incorporating them within their lessons. This information will be valuable for the facilitator to make necessary changes for future training sessions.

Key Stakeholders

The primary stakeholders include teachers, administrators, and district personnel. This professional development program will help them attain a better understanding of the importance of incorporating DI elements into inclusive classes to increase all student achievement while also enhancing learning for SPED students. Administrators at the study site will have the ability to monitor the program and the participants' learning. They will be able to support any teacher who may have questions or need assistance incorporating some aspects of DI into their lessons. Also, key stakeholders can monitor student learning and student success. The stakeholders will be given access to the study, its data, and its findings to provide a better understanding of the purpose and goals.

Project Implications Including Social Change

Local community. This professional development program will address the need to expand rural middle school teachers' comfort using DI components to support SPED students in inclusion–based classes. The study will be most beneficial to the SPED students involved, as they will receive lessons that better target their learning needs. Incorporating the components of DI to support SPED students could potentially increase students' love of learning and increase classroom engagement.

The professional development program could increase teacher self-efficacy, as well as provide support to educators who need to implement DI. Both changes could improve student achievement. According to DeVeve et al. (2014), the incorporation of professional development will enhance teacher skills to execute effective DI within the classroom. The participants will be allowed to collaborate to develop lesson plans; the instructional material will assist with creating lesson plans. In addition, participants will be provided a chance to collaborate to identify challenges and work to develop solutions to these problems. Improving middle school teachers' experiences and expanding their knowledge by incorporating DI components to support SPED students will lead to an increase in student achievement in all content areas. **Far–reaching implications**. The results of this study could have far–reaching possibilities beyond this rural South Carolina school district. This professional development program will present strategies and suggestions to help rural middle school teachers overcome the challenges they face with aligning DI components in their lessons, resulting in enhanced learning for their SPED students. This professional development could serve as a model for other districts across South Carolina and be a catalyst for social change. Social change could occur if other school districts adopted this professional development program, leading to an increase in student achievement across a larger area.

Conclusion

The purpose of this qualitative instrumental case study is to explore rural middle school teacher's experiences with incorporating DI components with SPED students in an inclusion–based class. The qualitative data showed that teachers felt unprepared and unequipped to support SPED students by incorporating DI components in their inclusion– based classes. However, this professional development opportunity was created to help rural middle school teachers overcome the challenges of implementing DI components and meeting the needs of their SPED students. Middle school teachers will be able to grow professionally by having the opportunity to collaborate with colleagues and create relevant, differentiated lessons that support their students, including SPED students.

Combining interview data, instructional observations, and research findings, I developed a three–day professional development program for rural middle school

teachers in the current district. In section 4, I provide in-depth information about the project study, along with my reflections, conclusions, and recommendations.

Section 4: Reflections and Conclusions

In this qualitative instrumental case study, I explored rural middle school teachers' experiences with supporting SPED students in an inclusion–based classroom by incorporating DI components (content, process and product). DI is defined as an instructional strategy that allows teachers to teach a diverse group of learners based on their learning styles and talents (Morgan, 2014; Tomlinson, 2014). In Section 4, I examined my role as a scholar-practitioner. This section concludes with this study's implications on social change and possible future study.

Project Strengths

The professional development program that I developed for based on the data from this study addresses middle school teachers' challenges incorporating DI components in an inclusion-based class to support their SPED students. This project provides a professional development program to help middle school teachers develop strategies to overcome challenges they have incorporating DI in their classrooms. McNeill et al. (2016) discovered that continual professional development and training allows participants time to effectively incorporate the information they receive into their instructional practices.

Additionally, the project increases overall achievement for all students. Teachers increase their self– efficacy and excitement for learning and students experience improved learning as a result of teachers obtaining more DI knowledge. The U.S. Department of Education (2018) recommends that research-based instructional strategies be used to meet the needs of diverse learners to increase student achievement. Thus, school systems that provide professional development opportunities intend to improve instruction and raise student achievement (NSDC, 2019). Annual DI professional development could cultivate students' learning and have a positive impact on standardized testing.

Limitations

One of the limitations that I identified for this project is funding. For teachers at this study site to participate in this professional development program, it would require that substitute teachers temporarily fill the primary teachers' positions. The most cost– effective way to conduct this professional development would be to utilize the district's designated days reserved for professional development. Those days are in August before the start of the official school year, limiting the length of the program to three days.

The level of teacher interest and administrator buy-in for the study potentially limits its effectiveness. The data collection revealed that the teachers at the study site have identified challenges using DI components within their inclusion–based classrooms and needed professional development on strategies middle school teachers can use to enhance learning for SPED students in their inclusion–based classrooms. However, some middle school teachers already feel equipped with tools and strategies and may not be willing to participate (Jordan, 2016).

Another limitation of the study is using one rural middle school to study the use of DI components within inclusion classes. At the study site, there are 24 middle school teachers, but only 10 participated in this study. The generalizability to middle school teachers outside the school of study will be affected by the small sample size. To address this limitation and increase generalizability, the study could be conducted at other school sites within the school district (Creswell, 2014; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016).

The final limitation of this study is my lack of experience and competency as a researcher, as I lack experience in collecting and analyzing data, and developing a project of this magnitude. Creswell (2014) and Yin (2014) suggested utilizing strategies such as member checking and triangulation methods for collecting data to address this limitation. Also, the use of program evaluation processes to evaluate the effectiveness of the project would better assist me in supporting a project of this magnitude.

Recommendations for Alternative Approaches

Through a professional development framework, the project addresses teachers' challenges with incorporating the components of DI to enhance student achievement for SPED students in their inclusion–based classes. An alternative approach to the problem is implementing the co-teaching inclusion model. The co-teaching inclusion model consists of a classroom of two teachers, a SPED teacher and general education teacher as the primary teacher. The SPED inclusion teacher could serve as a physical resource by providing diverse instructional strategies and tools that the general education teacher is trained to implement. Utilizing this model would allow for individualized instruction. For example, students could be grouped according to their learning ability and work with either the inclusion teacher or general education teacher. Using this model, the SPED teacher and general education to meet the needs of all students. According to Alexander (2014), the co-teaching inclusion model

appears to be an efficient option for ensuring the individualized needs of SPED students are met.

Co-teaching is a model that can also address the challenges of unpreparedness as the SPED teacher must collaborate, plan lessons, and create assessments with the regular education teachers (Dewer, 2012). The effectiveness of co-teaching relies on the shared expertise and contributions of each teacher to collaborate on instructional strategies (Muraswki, 2012).

Scholarship

The data collected from this study will provide stakeholders with information about rural middle school teachers' knowledge of and incorporation of DI components to enhance learning for SPED students in an inclusion–based class. Improving middle school teachers' comfort using DI components can help meet the needs of students so that they can be academically successful in inclusion–based classes.

Self–analysis of scholarship. This study revealed a strength and determination within me that I did not know existed. It challenged me as both an educator and researcher. During the initial process, I learned valuable information about using DI components and aligning instructional strategies to improve academic success for SPED students. As a science teacher, I was able to apply this information to enhance the learning of my SPED students.

During the process, I learned how to be a study practitioner by learning to prepare, conduct, and analyze data to determine findings. I found the quantitative analysis to be challenging but finding themes to be more accessible. All the information I have learned by conducting this study has helped me grow as a professional. I have a stronger desire and eagerness to share my knowledge of DI and to incorporate the components of DI with those outside my position and school district.

Self–analysis of project development. While preparing to conduct this study, I learned that teachers wanted professional development. More so, they wanted time to plan and collaborate with other content area teachers. They wanted time to share ideas, identify challenges they face, and produce solutions for overcoming those challenges. I reflected on the information I learned during the interviews when developing this project. I attempted to provide teachers with strategies they needed and that filled a perceived gap regarding using DI within their inclusion–based classrooms and to allow teachers time to collaborate to develop lessons and instructional materials. It was important to create a project that was meaningful and would provide a wealth of knowledge for middle school teachers so they would improve their confidence in incorporating DI in their inclusion–based classes.

Self–analysis of leadership and change. I began this doctoral process to meet a lifelong personal goal of obtaining my doctoral degree. However, through the process, I have developed perseverance and the belief in myself needed to bring about change for diverse learners. According to the South Carolina Department of Education (2018) and State Report Card (2018), our SPED population is growing. It is important that SPED students are afforded a quality education, despite their abilities, so that they can be successful, productive citizens. Through my doctoral journey I have discovered my own leadership potential, which may lead to new career goals for me, as well as bring about a positive change in secondary education.

Reflection on Importance of the Work

As I reflect on my journey at Walden University, I have grown as a scholar. Although I often felt overwhelmed, my deepened commitment to this topic kept me focused. As an educator, I wanted to find a solution to help teachers create a meaningful learning environment conducive to the needs of SPED students. I became more confident in my understanding of the importance of DI and in my ability to incorporate these components. Now that my journey is coming to an end, it is exciting to know that my work could positively influence the instructional practice of middle school teachers and expand their knowledge of DI in order that they may also increase student achievement for SPED students.

Implications, Applications, and Directions for Future Research

I designed a professional development to address the concerns of the administrators and middle school teachers at the local setting by increasing teachers' knowledge of DI and supporting SPED students by enhancing their teachers' instructional practices. Using the information from this study and the professional development program created, the administrators can address middle school teachers' challenges incorporating DI components, which may lead to positive change. Improving middle school teachers' knowledge and incorporation of DI could lead to more effective instruction that uses the components of DI to support SPED students and increase overall student achievement. Tomlinson (2014) recommended research-based instructional strategies that accommodate students with varying instructional needs. When instruction is individualized to fit students' needs, student achievement is enhanced and there are positive outcomes. The positive outcomes include articulation of the curriculum, identification of learning differences through assessments, and collaboration (Taylor, 2015).

Implications for my project study are a change in instructional practices and ongoing professional development that address incorporating DI in middle school inclusion classrooms for all content areas. This study could be implemented at other middle schools in the district to extend the collaborative reach of the professional development program. The information gathered throughout this study could be shared with continuing education programs or district teacher evaluation programs to create more effective teacher preparation programs. For additional research, I recommend extending the research to include more middle schools and high schools within the district. For example, this professional development program could be implemented on a district-wide basis.

Conclusion

In this study, I focused on determining the challenges rural middle school teachers face incorporating DI components to support SPED students in inclusion–based classes. From the findings, I created a three-day professional development program to address expanding teachers' knowledge of DI components and instructional strategies aligned with these components to enhance student achievement. This program will also provide participants with the time to collaborate to develop meaningful lesson plans and instructional materials to meet the needs of their students. Developing more effective instructional strategies in all content areas will lead to an increase in student achievement. This will influence social change at the school of study. If effective, this professional development program may be valuable to other schools in assisting with increasing student achievement for diverse learners by incorporating the components of DI.

References

- Alexander, L (2014) Inclusion: What works and does not work: Perceptions of middle school teachers. ProQuest Dissertations Publishing (1564035732). Retrieved from https://waldenulibrary.org
- American Institutes for Research. (2016, June 22) Improving teacher effectiveness: Implementation. Retrieved from https://www.air.org/
- Ajuwon, P., Lechtenberger, D., Griffin-Shirley, N., Soholosky, S., Zhou, L., & Mullins,
 F. (2012). General education pre-service teachers' perceptions of including students with disabilities in their classrooms. *International Journal of Special Education*, 27(3), 100-107.
- Allan, J., & Persson, E. (2016). Students' perspective on raising achievement through inclusion in Essunga, Sweden. *Educational Review*, 68(1), 82–95. Retrieved from <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/</u>
- Ashby, C. (2012). Disability studies and inclusive teacher preparation: A socially just path for teacher education. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 37(2), 89-99. doi: 10.2511/027494812802573611
- Avalos, B. (2011). Teacher professional development in teaching and teacher education over ten years. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 27, 10–20. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/locate/tate
- Avery, R. A. (2017). Teacher willingness on implementing differentiated instruction (DI) in the elementary classroom: A multiple case study (Doctoral dissertation).
 ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. Accession number (1964252438)

- Bandura, A. (1977a). Self–efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change.
 Psychological Review, 84, 191–215. Retrieved from
 https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1977-25733-001
- Bates, C. C. (2013). Flexible grouping during literacy centers: A model for differentiating instruction. *YC Young Children*, 68(2), 30-33. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.proxy1.ncu.edu/docview/1437609181?accountid=2818
 0
- Bicehouse, V., & Faieta, J. (2016). IDEA at age forty: Weathering common core standards and data driven decision making. *Contemporary Issues in Education Research (CIER), 10*(1), 33. Retrieved from https://clutejournals.com/index.php/CIER/article/view/9878
- Blecker, N. S., & Boakes, N. J. (2010). Creating a learning environment for all children: Are teachers able and willing? *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 14(5), 435–447.
- Burridge, P., & Carpenter, C. (2013). Expanding pedagogical horizons: A case study of teacher professional development. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 38(9). Retrieved from <u>https://ro.ecu.edu.au/ajte/vol38/iss9/1/</u>
- Bowe, J., & Gore J. (2017). Reassembling teacher professional development: The case for quality teaching rounds. *Teachers & Teaching*, *23*(3), 352–366. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13540602.2016.1206522
- Calvert, L. (2016). Moving from compliance to agency: What teachers need to make professional learning work. Oxford, OH: Learning Forward and NCTAF.

- Chesley, G., & Jordan, J. (2012). What's missing from teacher prep. *Educational Leadership*, 69(8), 41-45.
- Cooper, J., Kurtts, S., Baber, C., & Vallecorsa, Ada (2008). A model for examining teacher preparation curricula for inclusion. *Teacher Education Quarterly*. 35(4), 155-176.
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). *Educational Research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research* (5th Ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Dapudong, R. C. (2014). Teachers' knowledge and attitude towards inclusive education:
 Basis for an enhanced professional development program. *International Journal* of Learning and Development, 4 (4), 1–24. Retrieved from

http://www.macrothink.org/journal/index.php/ijld/article/view/6116

Darrow, A. (2016). Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA). General Music Today, 30(1),

41–44. Retrieved from
https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1048371316658327?journalCode=g

Deason, J. (2014). General education teachers' differentiated instruction in elementary inclusion (Order No. 3613947). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1524723141). Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fsearch.proquest.co

m%2Fdocview%2F1524723141%3Facc

Dee, A. (2011). Preservice teacher application of differentiated instruction. *Teacher Educator*, 46(1), 53-70. doi: 10.1080/08878730.2010.529987

- De Jesus, O. N. (2012). Differentiated instruction: Can differentiated instruction provide success for all learners? *National Teacher Education Journal*, *5*(3), 5-11.
- DeMatthews, D. E., & Mawhinney, H. (2013, July 29). Addressing the inclusion imperative: An urban school districts response. *Education Policy Analysis Archives, 21*(61), 1–26. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.14507/epaa.v21n61.2013
- Dixon, F. A., Yssel, N., McConnell, J. M., & Hardin, T. (2014). Differentiated instruction, professional development, and teacher efficacy. *Journal for the Education of the Gifted*, *37*(2), 111–127.
- Early, D. M., Rogge, R. D., & Deci, E. L. (2014). Engagement, alignment, and rigor as vital signs of high–quality instruction: A classroom visit protocol for instructional improvement and research. *The High School Journal*, 97(4), 219–239. Retrieved from <u>https://muse.jhu.edu/issue/30009</u>
- Edwards, C, Carr, S. & Siegel, W. (2006). Influences of Experiences and Training on Effective Teaching Practices to Meet the Needs of Diverse Learners in Schools. Education. Retrieved from <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ765777</u>

Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA). (2015.). Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/ESSA

- Fiest, L (2003). Removing barriers to professional development. T.H.E. Journal. 30 (11), 30-36. Retrieved from <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ676479</u>
- Florian, L., & Beaton, M. (2017). Inclusive pedagogy in action: getting it right for every child. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 22(8), 870–884. Retrieved from

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/13603116.2017.1412513?journalC ode=tied20

- Ford, J. (2013). Educating students with learning disabilities in inclusive classrooms. *Electronic Journal for Inclusive Education*, 3(1), 1–15. Retrieved from http://corescholar.libraries.wright.edu
- Forrester, S. O. (2016). Relationships among middle school teachers' perceptions regarding inclusion of students with disabilities in general education classrooms (Order No. 10010919). Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1765463928). Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fsearch.proquest.co m%2Fdocview%2F1765463928%3Facc
- Friend, M. P., & Bursuck, W. D. (2014). *Including students with special needs: A practical guide for classroom teachers*. New York, NY: Pearson.
- Fullerton, A., Ruben, B., McBride, S., & Bert, S. (2011). Development and design of a merged secondary and special education teacher preparation program. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 38(2), 27-44.
- Glazzard, J. (2011). Perceptions of the barriers to effective inclusion in one primary school: Voices of teachers and teaching assistants. *Support for Learning*, 26(2), 56–63. Retrieved from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1467-9604.2011.01478.x
- Gokdere, K. (2012). A comparative study of the attitude, concern, and interaction levels of elementary school teachers and teacher candidates towards inclusive education.

Education Sciences: Theory & Practice, 12, 2800–2806. Retrieved from ERIC database. (EJ1002876).

Gore, J., Lloyd, A., Smith, M., Bowe, J., Ellis, H., & Lubans, D. (2017). Effects of professional development on the quality of teaching: Results from a randomized controlled trial of quality teaching rounds. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 68, 99–113. Retrieved from

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0742051X17304225

- Gross, J. M., Haines, S. J., Hill, C., Francis, G. L., Blue–Banning, M., & Turnbull, A. P. (2015). Strong school–community partnership in inclusive schools are "part of the fabric of the school...We count on them". *School Community Journal*, 25(2), 9–33. Retrieved from www.schoolcommunitynetwork.org/SCJ.aspx
- Gutierez, S.B., & Kim, H.B. (2017). Becoming teacher–researchers: Teachers' reflections on collaborative professional development. *Educational Research*, 59(4), 444– 459. Retrieved from

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00131881.2017.1347051

Grskovic, J., & Trzcinka, S. (2011). Essential standards for preparing secondary content teachers to effectively teach students with mild disabilities in included settings. *American Secondary Education*, 39(2), 94-106.

Hidi, S., & Renninger, A. K. (2014). The 4–phase model of interest development. *Educational Psychologist*, 41(2), 111–127. Retrieved from <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1207/s15326985ep4102_4</u>

Hall, T. (2009). Differentiated instruction and implications for UDL implementation.

National Center on Accessible Instructional Material.

Hall, T., Strangman, N., & Meyer. A. (2003). *DI and implications* for UDL implementation. Wakefield, MA: National Center on Accessing the General Curriculum. Retrieved from

http://www.cast.org/publications/ncac/ncac_diffinstructudl.html

- Hamilton-Jones, B., & Vail, C. (2014). Preparing special education for collaboration in the classroom preservice teachers' beliefs and perspectives. *International Journal* of Special Education, 29(1), 76-86.
- Hehir, T., & Katzman, L. I. (2012). Effective inclusive schools. Designing successful schoolwide programs. San Francisco: Jossey–Bass, 2012.
- Herrelko, J. (2013). A four-tier differentiation model: Engage all students in the learning process. *Teacher Education and Practice*, *26*(3), 415-430.
- Hord, S. (2010). Professional learning communities: Communities of continuous inquiry and improvement. Austin, TX: Southwest Educational Development Laboratory. Retrieved from

http://www.eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=ED410659

- Huberman, M., Navo, M., & Parrish, T. (2012). Effective practice in high performing districts serving students in special education. *Journal of Special education*, 25(2), 59–71. Retrieved from www.waldenu.edu/library/education complete research
- Hsien, M., Brown, P., & Bortoli, A. (2009). Teacher qualifications and attitudes toward inclusion. *Australian Journal of Special Education*, *33*(1), 26-41. doi:

10.1375/ajse.33.1.26

- Hwang, Y., & Evans, D. (2011). Attitudes towards inclusion: Gaps between belief and practice. *International Journal of Special Education*, 26(1), 136-146.
 Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004, Pub. L. No. 108–446, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.
- Jordan, C. (2016). The community–engaged scholars' program: Designing a professional development program to enhance individual capacity, community benefit, and institutional support. *Journal of Community Engagement and Higher Education*, 8(3), 6–15. Retrieved from http://www.indstate.edu/jcehe/index.htm
- Kaur, A., Noman, M., & Awang–Hashim, R. (2016). Exploring strategies of teaching and classroom practices in response to challenges of inclusion in a Thai school: A case study. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, 20(5), 474–485.
 Retrieved from

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/13603116.2015.1090489

- Kappler-Hewitt, K., & Weckstein, D. (2012). Differentiated instruction: Begin with Teachers! *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 48(1), 35-40. doi: 10.1080/00228958.2012.654719.
- Killion, J., & Roy, P. (2009). Becoming a Learning School. United States of America: National Staff Development
- King–Sears, A., Brawand, M., Jenkins, M., & Preston–Smith, S. (2014). Co-teaching perspectives from secondary science co–teachers and their students with

disabilities. *Journal of Science Teacher Education*, 25, 651–680. Retrieved from doi:10.1007/s10972–014–9391–2

Knowles, M. (1984). Andragogy in Action. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

- Knowles, M. (1973). The adult learner: A neglected species. Houston, TX: Gulf Publishing Company.
- Knowles, M., Holton, E., III, & Swanson, E. (2005). *The adult learner: The definitive classic on adult education and human resource development* (6th ed.). Oxford, UK: Elsevier.
- Ko, B., & Boswell, B. (2013). Teachers' perceptions, teaching practices, and learning opportunities for inclusion. *Physical Educator*, 70(3), 223–242. Retrieved from <u>http://js.sagamorepub.com/pe/article/view/4262</u>
- Ladd, H. F. (2011). Teachers' perceptions of their working conditions: How predictive of planned and actual teacher movement? *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis, 33*(2), 235–261. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.3102/0162373711398128?journalCode=e paa
- Lauria, J. (Fall 2010). Differentiation through learning–style responsive strategies. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 47 (1), 24–29. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00228958.2010.10516556
- Latz, A., Speir Neumeister, K., Adams, C., & Pierce, R. (2009). Peer coaching to improve classroom differentiation: Perspectives from Project CLUE. *Roeper Review*, 31(1), 27-39. doi: 10.1080/02783190802527356

- Leedy, P. & Ormond, J. (2015). *Practical research: Planning and design* (11th ed). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Learning Forward. (n.d.). Standards for professional leaning: Quick reference guide. Retrieved July 11, 2019, from

http://www.learningforward.org/docs/pdf/standardsreferenceguide.pdf?sfvrsn=0

- Levy, H. M. (2008) Meeting the needs of all students through differentiated instruction:
 Helping every child reach and exceed standards. *The Clearing House*,
 March/April, 161–164.5
- Lochner, B., Conrad, R., & Graham, E. (2015). Secondary teachers concern in adopting learning management systems: A U.S. perspective. *TechTrends*, 59(5), 62–70.
 Retrieved from
- Logan, B. (2011). Examining differentiated instruction: Teacher response. *Research in Higher Education Journal*, *13*, 1–14. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1068803.pdf
- Loreman, T., Sharma, U., & Forlin, C. (2013). Do pre-service teachers feel ready to teach in inclusive classrooms? A four-country study of teaching self-efficacy. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 38(1). doi: 10.14221/ajte.2013v38n1.10

 Lunsford, K. (2017). Challenges to implementing differentiated instruction in middle school classrooms with mixed skill levels. Available from Dissertations & Theses
 Walden University; ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1973128867).
 Retrieved from <u>https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/</u> McGovern, M. (2015). Least restrictive environment: Fulfilling the promises of IDEA.

- McHatton, P. A., & Parker, A. (2013). Purposeful preparation: Longitudinally exploring inclusion attitudes of general and special education pre–service teachers. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 36(3), 186–203.
- McLeskey, J., Waldron, N. L., & Redd, L. (Oct. 26, 2014). A case study of a highly effective, inclusive elementary school. *The Journal of Special Education*, 48, 59–70. Retrieved from <u>www.sagepub.com</u>
- McNeill, J., B., G., & Armstrong, A. (2016). Developing collaborative approaches to enhance the professional development of primary mathematics teachers, Education 3–13, 44:4, 426–441. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03004279.2014.973896
- McShane, Q. M., & Eden, M. (2015) Encouraging efficiency, rewarding quality: Lessons for school choice policy and practice. *Journal of School Choice*, 9(1), 97–114, Retrieved from

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/15582159.2015.998968

Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th Ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Morgan, H. (2014). Maximizing student success with differentiated learning. *A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 87 (1), 34–38. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00098655.2013.832130

- Monsen, J. J., Ewing, D. L., & Kwoka, M. (2014). Teachers' attitudes towards inclusion, perceived adequacy of support and classroom learning environment. *Learning Environments Research*, 17(1), 113–126.
- Murawski, W. W. (2012). 10 Tips for Using Co-Planning Time More Efficiently. TEACHING Exceptional Children, 44(4), 8–

15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/004005991204400401</u>

- National Commission on Teaching & America's Future. (2016). What matters now: A new compact for teaching and learning? Arlington, VA: <u>www.nctaf.org</u>.
- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) Home Page, part of the U.S. Department of Education. (n.d.). Retrieved from <u>http://nces.ed.gov/</u>
- National Staff Development Council (NSDC) (2019). Retrieved from https://learningforward.org/. Accessed on November 02, 2019
- Navarro, S. B., Zervas, P., Gesa, R. F., & Sampson, D. G. (2016). Developing teachers' competences for designing inclusive learning experiences. *Educational Technology & Society*, 19(1), 17–27. Retrieved from https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/7265373
- Nicolae, M. (2014). Teachers' beliefs as the differentiated instruction starting point: Research basis. *Social and Behavioral Sciences 128*, 426–431.
- Nierengarten, G. (2013). Supporting co-teaching in high schools: Twenty research–based practices. *American Secondary Education*, 42(1), 73–83. Retrieved from www.waldenu.edu/ERIC

No Child Left Behind Act of 2001, Pub. L. 107–110, 115, 20 U.S.C. § 6319 (2002)

Obiakor, F. E., Harris, M., Mutua, K., Rotatori, A., & Algozzine, B. (2012). Making inclusion work in general education classrooms. *Education and Treatment of Children*, 35, 477–490. Retrieved from www.waldenu.edu/library

Opre, D. (2015). Teachers' conceptions of assessment. Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences, 209, 229–233. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/286903372_Teachers'_Conceptions_of_ Assessment

- Prince, B. L. (2011). Teacher perceptions of differentiated instruction (Order No. 3460876). Available from Dissertations & Theses at Walden University; ProQuest Central; ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (879043001). Retrieved from <u>https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login?qurl=https%3A%2F%2Fsearch.proquest.co</u> <u>m%2Fdocview%2F879043001%3Faccou</u>
- Perus, B. (2012). Authentic instruction for 21st century learning: Higher order thinking in an inclusive school. *American Secondary Education*, (40) 3, Retrieved from www.waldenu.edu/library
- Petrilli, M. J. (2011). All together now: Educating high and low achievers in the same classroom. *Education Next*, *11*(1), 48–55.
- Pham, H. L. (2012). Differentiated instruction and the need to integrate teaching and practice. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning*, (9)1, 13–20.
- Rachmawati, M. A., Nu'Man, T. M., Widiasmara, N., & Wibisono, S. (2016).
 Differentiated instruction for special needs in inclusive schools: a preliminary study. Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 217, 585–593. doi:

10.1016/j.sbspro.2016.02.053

- Roy, A., Guay, F., and Valois, P. (2013). Teaching to address diverse learning needs: Development and validation of a differentiated instruction scale. *International Journal of Inclusive Education*, *17*(11), 1186–1204. Retrieved from EBSCOhost database.
- Royster, O., Reglin, G., & Losike–Sedimo, N. (2014). Inclusion professional development model and regular middle school educators. *Journal of at Risk Issues, 18* (1), 1–10. Retrieved from www.waldenu.edu/ERIC
- Sabb-Cordes, M. (2016). Teachers' perceptions of differentiated learning for at-risk second-grade students in reading. Available from Dissertations & Theses at Walden University; ProQuest Central; ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1798825050). Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/
- Santangelo, T., & Tomlinson, C. (2012). Teacher educators' perceptions and use of differentiated instruction practices: an exploratory investigation. *Action in Teacher Education*, 34(4), 309-327.
- SC Department of Education. (2015). South Carolina department of education. Retrieved from www.ed.sc.gov
- Schmid, M. E., Gillian–Daniel, D. L., Kraemer, S., & Kueppers, M. (2016, September 2).
 Promoting student academic achievement through faculty development about inclusive teaching. *Change: The Magazine for Higher Learning*, 48(5), 16–25.
- Slater, L. L. (2017). Comparing the differences in access to professional development for general education and special education teachers and the subsequent impact on

instructional practice. Available from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (1978510964). Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login

- Smith, D. D., & Tyler, N. C. (2011). Effective inclusive education: Equipping education professionals with necessary skills and knowledge. *Prospects*, *41*, 323–339.
 Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs11125-011-9207-5
- Smith, T. & Rowley, K. (2005). Enhancing commitment or tightening control: The function of teacher professional development in an era of accountability. *Educational Policy*, 19(1), 126–154. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0895904804270773
- Smith, W. R. (2012). Culture of collaboration. *School Administrator*, 69(1), 14–20. Retrieved from http://www.eddigest.com/index.php
- Steinmeyer, J. (2011 Steinmeyer, J. (2011). Implementation of differentiated instruction in inclusion classroom effectiveness (Order No. 3482514). Available from Dissertations & Theses at Walden University; ProQuest Central; ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. Retrieved from https://ezp.waldenulibrary.org/login
- Suprayogi, M. N., Valcke, M., & Godwin, R. (2017). Teachers and their implementation of differentiated instruction in the classroom. *Teaching AND Teacher Education*, 67, 291–301.
- Svanbjornsdottir, B., Macdonald, A., & Frimannsson, G. (2016). Teamwork in establishing a professional learning community in a New Icelandic school.
Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research, *60*(1), 90–109. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00313831.2014.996595

Tan, Y., & Caleon, I. (2016). Problem finding in professional learning communities: A learning study approach. *Scandinavian Journal of Educational Research*, 60(2), 127–146. Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00313831.2014.996596?journalCo de=csje20

- Taylor, R. W., & Ringlaben, R. P. (2012, July 19). Impacting pre–service teachers' attitude toward inclusion. *Higher Education Studies*, 2 (3), 1–8. Retrieved from <u>http://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/hes/article/view/17232</u>
- Timberlake, M. T. (2014). Weighing costs and benefits: Teacher interpretation and implementation of access to the general education curriculum. *Research & Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, *39*, 83–99.

Retrieved from

https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/1540796914544547?journalCode=r psd

Thornton, H. (2013). A case analysis of middle level teacher preparation and long–term teacher dispositions. *RMLE Online: Research In Middle Level Education*, *37*(3).

Tobin, R., & Tippett, C. (2014). Possibilities and potential barriers: Learning to plan for differentiated instruction in elementary science. *International Journal of Science & Mathematics Education*, 12(2), 423–443. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10763-013-9414-z

- Tomlinson, C (2014). The differentiated classroom: Responding to the needs of all learners (2nd ed.). Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Tomlinson, C. & Imbeau, M. (2011). *Leading and managing a differentiated classroom*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Tomlinson, C. A. (1999). *The differentiated classroom*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Tricarico, K., & Yendol–Hoppey, D. (2012). Teacher learning through self–regulation:
 An exploratory study of alternatively prepared teachers' ability to plan
 differentiated instruction in an urban elementary school. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 39(1), 139–158.
- Urton, K., Jurgen, W., & Hennemann, T. (2014). Attitudes towards inclusion and self– efficacy of principals and teachers. *Learning Disabilities: A Contemporary Journal*, 12(2), 151–168. Retrieved from www.waldenu/library
- U.S. Department of Education. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.ed.gov/
- Valiandes, S. (2015). Evaluating the impact of differentiated instruction on literacy and reading in mixed ability classrooms: Quality and equity dimensions of education effectiveness. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, *45*, 17–26. Retrieved from www.waldenu/library
- Vaughn, S., Bos, C. S., & Schumm, J. S. (2013). Teaching students who are exceptional, diverse, and at–risk in the general education classroom. New York, NY: Pearson.

- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). *Mind in society: The development of higher psychological processes*. Retrieved from www.waldenlibrary.com
- Whipple, K. A. (2012). Differentiated instruction: A survey study of teacherunderstanding and implementation in a southeast Massachusetts school district(Unpublished Doctoral Theses). Massachusetts: Northeastern University.
- Wiggins, G. P., & McTighe, J. (2008). *Understanding by design*. Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Wiles, J., & Bondi, J. (2015). Curriculum development (Ninth edition.). Boston: Pearson.
- Williams, D.J. (2013). Urban education and professional learning communities. *Delta Kappa Gamma Bulletin*, 79(2), 31–39. Retrieved from http://www.deltakappagamma.org/NH/bulletin_vol79– 2_2013winter.pdf#page=32
- Wu, E. (2013). The path leading to differentiation: An interview with Carol Tomlinson. Journal of Advanced Academics, 24(2), 125-133. doi: 10.1177/1932202x13483472Yin, R. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Appendix A: The Project

This project is intended to be an interactive and hands–on approach to learn to incorporate the components of differentiated instruction (DI) in middle school inclusion– based classrooms. This professional development program is based on research in DI along with findings of a study done at a rural middle school in a South Carolina district. The findings from this study indicated the need for professional development where middle school teachers can see and learn how to incorporate the components of DI in their inclusion–based classrooms.

Target Audience

The target audience for this project will be general education and special education teachers from all content areas in middle school.

Professional Development Program

This project includes three sessions for the professional development program that will occur over the course of 3 full days. The adult learning theory by Knowles will be used as a guide to certify the effectiveness of this program.

Program Goals

- 1. Educate teachers on understanding of what DI is and the components.
- 2. Provide middle school teachers with strategies they can to support special education students.
- 3. Provide middle teachers an opportunity to collaborate through colleague interaction on how to incorporate the components of DI.

4. Provide teachers the opportunity to see examples of DI being implemented in

classrooms through video clips and observing colleagues.

Day 1 Resources

- 1. Table supplies: Paper, chart paper, pens, markers, teacher-laptops
- 2. Smartboard
- 3. Projector
- 4. Notebook
- 5. Door prizes

Day 1: What is DI?

Objective: Understanding the basic principles of differentiating content, process and product in an academically inclusion-based classroom.

8:00-8:30 AM	 Teacher Arrival/Sign In: As the Teachers are arriving, they will be given names of Superheroes as to what group they will be placed in: Wonder Woman–Special Education and ESOL Teachers Dr. Strange–Science Teachers Hulk–Math Teachers Thor–Social Studies Teachers Welcome/Rules (Light refreshments and coffee will be served in the Professional Development Room for participants)
8:30–8:45 am	Ice Breaker: Two Truths and One Untruth
8:45–9:00 am	Hook–Teachers observe the "One Size Fit All Picture." Teachers will be given roughly 5 mins to observe the image, then pair/share within their group about their observations followed by an open discussion.
9:00–9:45 am	Activity: Teacher Scavenger Hunt: Teachers will be given a handout containing questions related to DI. The goal will be for each teacher to walk around the classroom finding individuals to respond to the questions. After the person responds to the question, that individual will need to put their INITIALS in that box/square. The goal is to see how many

	boxes/squares they can fill. (A door prize will be given to the teacher who has the most names)
9:45– 10:00am	Results–Teachers will transition back to their content groups. The facilitator will instruction them to take about 5 mins to discuss and share their responses to the activity. (5–10 min)
	Following the discussion, the facilitator will provide the teachers with some chart paper and markers; on the paper they write a summary from the responses given to share out with the whole class (15–20min)
10:00– 10:15am	Break
10:15– 11:15am	Slide Show–Facilitator will present a slideshow on a little about the synopsis project; data; and define the DI. In addition, the facilitator will include the components of DI as well as a definition for those components. (30–40min)
	Video Clipping on DI (15–20 min)–Facilitator will ask the teachers observe the video clip and record their observations (teacher/student interaction and student interaction); Following their observation; the teachers will then pair/share their observations with content group with the question in mind, Based on the Definition of DI, how was the teacher differentiating her instruction with her students).
11:15– 12:00	The teachers will work in their groups their groups to come with a menu/choice board for their content area.
12:00– 1:00pm	Lunch on your own
1:00-2:00	Each group will share their menu/choice boards they created and given feedback from other groups
2:00-2:15	Bathroom break
2:15–2:45	Summarize and Plan for the next day's presentation: The facilitator will ask each teacher to take the information that has been provided and plan a lesson encompassing differentiated instruction based on their content.
2:45– 3:00pm	Complete Day 1 survey and dismissal





Slide 1: Facilitator will welcome teachers to the professional development program. Explain that the training today is to help teachers understand the components of DI how to incorporate those components to support special education students.

Slide 2–Ice Breaker: The facilitator will instruct each teacher to get a piece of candy (all different colors) and assign them to the groups associated with their content area. Once they are seated the facilitator will instruct the teachers not to

eat the candy, yet. Based on the color of candy they have; they will follow the prompt on the Smart Board to answer a question related to the color candy they have.



Day 1=What is DI and DI Components?

Day 2-What is Inclusion and how to implement DI strategies to support special education students?

Day 3: Putting it all together

3



- Recognize the basic principles of differentiating content, process, and project in an academically diverse classroom.
- Be able to incorporate one or more instructional strategies that support special education students in an inclusion classroom.

Slide 3–Slide 4: The facilitator will discuss and explain the purpose of the professional development for the next 3 days, and the objectives.





Slide 6: The facilitator will instruct the teachers to observe the image and write their observations. The teachers will then pair/share their information within their groups. The facilitator will bring the group back together to have a whole group discussion.

Accessing prior knowledge about DI.	Directions: Teachers will walk around the room and find someone to respond to the questions on the handout. After a verbal answer the person will then initial the square.	Rule: One person can only answer and initial one square.
What is your definition of DI?	Give an example of when you have used DI?	What is something you would like to learn about DI?
When do you use small group instruction?	Differentiation means as many lesson plans as you have students. Agree?	How do you discover how your students learn?
What is one way you can form groups in your classroom?	What are some quick on-going assessments in your class?	Are DI and Assessment related



Slide 7: The Facilitator: Describe how students come into the classroom with a variety of readiness levels, learning styles, prior education experiences, interest, and personal experiences. These things should be taken into consideration when instructing them. Thus, the reason differentiating instruction is essential to promote student achievement. The facilitator will explain the scavenger hunt to the teachers. The objective of the scavenger hunt is to get teachers to initial as many boxes related to differentiated instruction. The teacher with most signatures during the allotted time will win a door prize.

Slide 8: Note to the Facilitator: Teachers will take a 15 min bathroom and snack break; upon their arrival back to the professional development





Slide 9: The facilitator will read the quote about differentiated instruction by Tomlinson and given 5 min to discuss the quote within their groups. Slide 10: The facilitator will play the video about differentiated instruction. After the video the teachers within their groups will be given some chart paper to compare their definitions with the video, followed by a whole class discussion.





Slide 11: The facilitator will read the statement to the teachers. Slide 12: The facilitator will read the definition of DI derived from the analysis of the study.





Slide 13: The facilitator will discuss ways to differentiate instruction using those components. Refer to the flow chart



Reprinted by permission from The Differentiated Classroom: Responding to the Needs of All Learners, by C.A. Tomlinson (Alexandria, VA: ASCD, 1999). The Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development is a worldwide community of educators advocating sound policies and sharing best practices to achieve the success of each learner. To learn more, visit ASCD at www.ascd.org.

The facilitator will discuss the concept map on differentiated instruction. Slide 14: The facilitator will instruct the teacher to take a 1 hour lunch break on their own.



15

Ways to Differentiate Instruction

Establish learning targets

· What do you want the students to know

Design activities to help students meet those learning targets

- · Differentiate for content, process, and product
- Differentiated for diverse learners including the special education student population

16

Slide 15: The facilitator will discuss the image and explain to teachers how students come to their classes with varied styles of learning. As educators we must adapt our curriculum to meet them where they are.

Slide 16: The facilitator will instruct the teachers to create an activity using the flow map incorporating content, process and product followed by a pair/share.





Slide 17: The facilitator will allow the teachers to do whole class discussion sharing their activity and how they can use this in their classrooms. Slide 18: The facilitator will instruct the teachers to take a 15 min break

Differentiating Content

- Peer and Adult Mentors
- Varied Manipulatives and Resources
 - Ex: Tiered Lessons
- Interest Centers
 - Ex: Learning Stations; Choice Menus
- Charts and Models
 - Ex: Anchor charts; Graphic Organizers



- Audio and video recordings

 Ex: Flip classrooms
- Resource materials at varying readability levels
 - Example: Read Works or Newela

19

Readiness Level	Interests	Learning Profile
Provide reading materials on different levels to provide access to content	Allow students to use learning materials they enjoy (computer, books, drawing materials, videos)	Students can work with a peer or a group of peers to learn the content/problem-based learning/project based learning
Enlarge text/read information aloud to students who cannot read	Group students based on similar interests for a topic of study to learn together	Provide visual material (graphic organizers, pictures, print, videos)
Use scaffolding to provide access to general education content (tap into what the students already know and help them "build bridges" to new content)	Set up learning centers based on student interests	Provide auditory material (talking, singing, rhyming, music)
Use a variety of resource materials at different cognitive levels (books, music, magazines, videos, websites, audio tapes)	If a student does better attending to instruction while fidgeting with an object or hold a special item, allow it	Provide opportunities for active engagement/hands-on learning experiences/allow movement/role play/literature circles
Eliminate or explain abstract material as necessary		

20

Slide 19 and Slide 20: The facilitator will discuss ways teachers can implement DI within their classrooms and find activities that are aligned with their content.



- · Tiered product choices
- Model, use and encourage students to use technology within products and presentations
- Provide product choices that range in choices from all multiple intelligences



21





Slide 21: The facilitator will explain the slide who teacher can use technology and other models to incorporate product.

Slide 22: The facilitator will summary Day 1 session.



Slide 23: The facilitator will ask each participate to take a quick survey before ending day 1 session.

Day 2 Resources

- 1. Table supplies: Paper, chart paper, pens, markers, teacher-laptops
- 2. Smartboard
- 3. Projector
- 4. Notebook
- 5. Graphic Organizers
- 6. Post its

Day 2– Getting to know your students and Strategies for Differentiating Instruction Objective: Teachers learn how to find their students learning style and apply that information toward strategies for differentiating instruction.

8:00–8:15 AM	Teacher Arrival/Sign In Welcome Back (Light refreshments and coffee)
8.15-8:30	Ice Breaker: Two Truths and One Lie
8:30–8:45 am	Facilitator will discuss Day 2's session about getting to know your students and using that information to implement strategies to differentiate instruction within their inclusive–based classrooms.
8:45–9:15am	Presentation: Discussion of the different learning styles. Facilitator will prompt teachers to take a 20 questions quiz on knowing their learning styles (the link will be shared via Google Doc). (15 mins)
	Teachers will have a chance to discuss their learning style in small groups followed by a whole group discussion and what that looks like with their students. (10 mins)
9:15–9:30 am	Restroom and Snack Break Time
9:30–9:45	KWL access prior knowledge on inclusion
9:45– 10:45am	Presentation: What is Inclusion?
10.+5 u m	Video Clipping: Teachers will use the instructional strategy "Connect the Dots." (the Facilitator will model this technique)
	Teachers will Pair/Share their "Connect the Dot" activity and chart their "one" take–away to share during whole group discussion.
	Discussion on different models of inclusion.
10:45– 11:00am	Inclusion Scenarios
11:00-11:15	Break Time
11:15–11:45	Presentation of the different ways to differentiate instruction
11:45-12:00	Participates will be given choice menu templates to create a choice menu incorporating the components of DI within their content
12:00– 1:00pm	Lunch

1-:00-1:30	Share choice menu and given feedback
1:30–1:45pm	Presentation: Strategies to Differentiate Instruction
	Facilitator will discuss different strategies teachers can use to differentiate instruction to support all students including special education students. Teachers will complete a graphic organizer as they watch the videos related to the different strategies.
1:45–2:00	Teachers will work in small groups to discuss their graphic organizers. Facilitator will provide each group with some post its. Teachers will be prompted pick one strategy that was most interesting to them and one that they will implement in their classrooms. Once they have completed their post—it, they will place it on the Anchor Chart for whole class discussion.
2:00-2:30	Discuss differentiating instruction using technology
2:30-2:45	Kahoot Summarizing day 2
2:45-3:00	3–2–1 Exit Slip: Teachers will be asked to write down 3 things they learned from today's session, 2 things they would like to know more about, and 1 thing they might have about today's session. Participates will complete the survey.

Day 2-Getting to know your students and Strategies for Differentiating Instruction

24

Slide 24: The facilitator will introduce Day 2.

Learner Objectives

Teachers will...

- · Learn the importance of getting to know their students
- Determine their students learning styles and apply that information toward strategies for differentiating instruction.

25



Slide 25: The facilitator will discuss the objectives for day 2 session Slide 26–Ice Breaker: The facilitator will explain the activity "two truths and a lie" activity. Each group will come up with the two truths and one lie and share it with the class. The class will see if they discover the truths and the lie.





Slide 27: The facilitator will describe how students come into the classroom with a variety of readiness levels, learning styles, prior education experiences, interest, and personal experiences. These things should be taken into consideration when instructing students. Thus, the reason differentiating instruction is essential to promote student achievement.

Slide 28: The facilitator will discuss the different types of learning styles.



Slide 29: The facilitator will instruct the teachers to take the 20–question quiz to discover what their learning styles followed by a pair/share and group discussion.



Slide 30: The facilitator will instruct the teachers to take a 15 min break.



Slide 31: The facilitator will instruct the teachers to do a KWL on their knowledge of inclusion. We will discuss their knowledge, what they would like to learn about inclusion, and watch the video clipping about what they learned.



Slide 32: The facilitator will read the definition of inclusion followed by whole class discussion comparing their definition of inclusion to the actual meaning of inclusion. What does that look like in their classrooms?

Inclusion Scenario Scenario One It's two days before the first week of a new school year. You are a new ninth grade science teacher and have been told that you will have six students who have IEPs joining your science class. Two of them have IQ's between 60 and 70. The other four of the students has specific learning clisabilities. How do you differentiate instruction. Scenario One It's two days before the first week of a new school year. You are a new ninth grade science teacher and have been told that you will have six students who have IEPs joining your science class. Two of them have IQ's between 60 and 70. The other four of the students has specific learning clisabilities. You were told that you have an inclusion teacher assisting them. This new to you, for you have never met the special education teacher and little understanding of students with disabilities, what do you do?

13

Slide 33: The facilitator will display two inclusion scenarios for each group to discuss and answer followed by a whole class discuss.



Slide 34: The facilitator will discuss the different models of inclusion.



Slide 35: The facilitator will discuss ways to differentiate instruction using small groups and flexible/tiered grouping



Slide 36: see Slide 35



Slide 37: The facilitator will discuss the model.



Slide 38: The facilitator will continue to discuss ways to differentiate instruction by using tiered lessons.



Slide 39: The facilitator will discuss student choice.



Slide 40: The facilitator will instruct provide the groups with choice templates. Within their groups to create a choice board for their subject area being sure to incorporate the components of DI learned in session 1.



Slide 41: The facilitator will discuss co-teaching as another way to differentiate instruction, followed by the benefits of co-teaching for students in Slide 42.



Slide 42: see slide 41



Slide 43: The facilitator will instruct the participates to break for an hour lunch



Slide 44: The facilitator will provide all the participates with a graphic organizer pertaining to the different models of DI strategies discussed. The participates will be instructed to record their observations about each of the strategies followed by a group/whole class discussion.



Slide 45: The facilitator will discuss how technology can be used to enhance differentiated instruction and support students of diversity.



Slide 46: The facilitator will play a game of Kahoot to summarize day 2 session and provide teachers with a preview of how to implement this instructional tool in their inclusion–based classrooms.



Slide 47: The facilitator will instruct the participates to complete a 3-2-1 exit slip to reflect on their day 2 experience about what they learned, still have questions about



Slide 48: The facilitator will ask each participate to fill out a survey evaluating day 2 session.

Day 3 Resources

- 12. Table supplies: Paper, chart paper, pens, markers, teacher-laptops
- 13. Smartboard
- 14. Projector
- 15. Notebook
- 16. Door prize
- 17. DI article
- 18. 5 Puzzles Boxes

Day 3– Putting it all together (Collaboration)

Objective: The teachers will take all the information given from session 1 and 2 to

create lesson plans based on their content that incorporates content, process and

product.

8:00–8:15 AM	Teacher Arrival/Sign In Welcome Back (Light refreshments and coffee)
8:15–8:45 am	Activity: Each group will be given a puzzle. They will be given 10 min to put the puzzle together "WITHOUT TALKING." They will have to work together using non-verbal cues to put the puzzle together. The first group to complete the task will win a prize. Whole class discussion on the importance of collaboration.
8:45–9:45 am	DI Article/Jigsaw: Teachers will be given an article about DI. Each individual in the small group will receive a letter (A, B, C, or D). Then, the Facilitator will instruct the lettered groups to divide off to read and discuss the article. (10 min) After 10 min, the individual will regroup with their original small group (content group) and share their findings, followed by a whole group discussion.

9:45– 10:00am	Restroom break and snack break
9:15– 12:00pm	Teachers will work in their small groups to create a lesson plan incorporating the components of DI along with instructional strategies of differentiated instruction to support special education students within their classroom.
	Each group will be given a lesson plan template that will help guide them through their collaboration planning. Additionally, one person from the special education group will plan alongside each content group.
12:00– 1:00pm	Lunch
1:00-2:00	Each group will share their lesson plan with whole class and will be given feedback
2:00-2:30	Summary of Day 3
2:30-2:45	Evaluation



Slide 49: The facilitator will introduce Day 3 session.
Learner Objectives

Teachers will...

 Take all the information discussed from day 1 and day 2 sessions and create lesson plans based on their content that incorporates the components of differentiated instruction support all students and support special education students.

50

Slide 50: The facilitator will inform the participates of the objectives for day 3.



Slide 51: The facilitator will inform the provide the directions for the ice-breaker on cooperative learning and collaboration, as well as ways they could use this activity with their students. The group that finishes the puzzle first will win a door prize.



Slide 52: The facilitator will give each group an article about implementing DI to support special education students within an inclusion classroom. The facilitator will then explain to the participates about the Jigsaw activity. The facilitator will then assign each participate from each group a letter A–D.



Slide 53: After the allotted time given for the Jigsaw, all the participates will go back to their groups and discuss their findings from the article; followed by a whole class discussion. The facilitator will discuss ways they could use this activity to differentiate varied reading levels within their classrooms.



Slide 54: The facilitator will instruct the participates to take a 15 min break



Slide 55: The facilitator will discuss the importance of teachers collaborating with as a content area, grade level, and departments. For the reminder of the profession development day 3, the teachers will be working within their content groups along with a special education teacher to create a lesson plan with all the components of differentiated instruction followed by sharing and feedback.







Slide 57: The facilitator will instruct the participates to finalize their lesson plans and began presenting them to the group.



Slide 58: The facilitator will thank all the participates for attending the professional development and to complete the session upon dismissal.



References Continued

Tiered Lessons Video <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=1ob4eGz04G4</u> Co-teaching Video <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=7G_PuClpaaM</u> Inclusion and Differentiated Instruction: Teachers in the Movies do it Too <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=i6rEy3Lqfio</u>

60

Formative Evaluation for Day 1 and Day 2

On a scale of 1-5, where 1 = Disagree and 5 = Agree, please respond to the following statements by circling the appropriate number.

This professional development was relevant to my needs.	1	2 5	3	4
This professional development was of high quality.	1	2	3	4
		5		
This professional development enhanced my understanding of differentiated instruction.	1	2	3	4
		5		
This professional development provided me with relevant tools to effectively incorporate differentiated	1	2	3	4
strategies in my inclusion-based classroom.		5		

Summative Evaluation

On a scale of 1-5, where 1 = Disagree and 5 = Agree, please respond to the following statements by circling the appropriate number.

I feel more knowledgeable about differentiated	1	2	3	4	
instruction to support special education teachers.		5			
I feel better equipped to incorporate strategies of	1	2	3	4	
differentiated instruction in my inclusion-based		5			
class.					
I feel that this professional development was a	1	2	3	4	
productive use of my time.		5			
I feel that attending this professional development	1	2	3	4	
will make me a more effective teacher.		5			
I understand the need to differentiate instruction in	1	2	3	4	-
my inclusion classroom to reach all students		5			
including my special education students.					

Summative Evaluation (After 3 months)

Using a scale of 1–5, where 1 is Disagree and 5 is Agree, please answer the following

questions.

I have been able to utilize strategies that I learned during the professional development in my classes.	1	2 5	3	4	
I feel confident incorporating differentiated instructional strategies in my class to support all my students including special education students.	1	2 5	3	4	
I feel confident utilizing strategies to address the needs of my diverse learners.	1	2 5	3	4	
I feel confident utilizing strategies to address the needs of my diverse learners.	1	2 5	3	4	

What advice would you share with other middle school teachers that may be beneficial to others when creating and incorporating lessons using DI to enhance learning for special education students?

Comments:

Appendix B: Interview Protocol

Interviewee's Assigned Letter:

Opening Script:

Thank you for taking the time to allow me to interview you today. The purpose of this qualitative instrumental case study is to explore rural middle school teacher's experiences with incorporating the components (content, process and product) of DI with special education students in an inclusion classroom. Your participation in this study is voluntary. If you at any time there is a question you do not want to answer of if you would like to stop the interview process entirely, please let me know. To protect your identity, I will be assigning you a letter and will use your letter instead of your name. I will be taking notes during the interview and I will also need to audio record the interview. Once the interview is over, I will transcribe for accuracy. Do you have any questions before we begin? Please let me know when you are ready, and I will begin recording.

Background questions:

- 1. How long have you been teaching?
- 2. How many special education students you do you currently have in your class?
- 3. What is your typical class size?

Knowledge and Training:

- 4. What is your background knowledge about DI?
- 5. To your knowledge, how much training or professional development is offered to middle school teachers on using the components of DI to support special education students in inclusion classrooms?
- 6. If not, have you attempted to attend any professional development sessions geared toward differentiated instruction or workshops on supporting special education students in an inclusive classroom?
- 7. If so, what did you find useful? And Why?
- 8. What challenges, if any, do you face with using the components of DI to support special education students in your inclusive classroom?
- 9. What instructional tools, if any, you may need to effectively incorporate the components of DI within your inclusive classroom to support special education students.

Instructional Practices

- 10. What instructional strategies are you currently using, if any, that are aligned with the components of DI to support special education students in your inclusive classroom?
- 11. What assessments do you use to assess special education's students' level of understanding according to your standards and the effectiveness of DI in your inclusive classroom?
- 12. If you use the components of DI within your inclusive classroom setting, what are some examples of activities you have used to engage your special needs students?

Concluding Script

Thank you for allowing me to interview you. I appreciate your time. Keep in mind that all your responses will remain confidential. Once I have transcribed the interview and analyzed the data, I will send you a summary of my findings for you to see if my interpretation was accurate. If there is anything you feel that I should change, please notify me.

Appendix C: Observation Checklist Protocol

Date:

Time at Start of Observation:

Time at End of Observation:

Participants' Assigned Letter:

Number of special education students in class:

Evidence of DI	Strong	Adequate	None
Classroom is designed or arranged for			
quick and easy grouping for teacher and			
student engagement			
Materials/Resources are on students'			
level for success			
Variety of assessment tools are used			
Variety of instructional strategies are			
used to engage student learning			
Teacher is assessing student prior			
knowledge and skill			
Teacher is using variety of ways to			
introduce concepts to students (i.e. visual			
aids)			
Providing student with choice			
Comments:			

Requested permission to use and modify from The Learning forward organization Acknowledgements: This instrument was created with Carol Tomlinson

Appendix D: Review of Artifacts Protocol

Date:

Time at Start of Review:

Time at End of Review:

Interviewee Assigned Letter:

Evidence of DI	Strong	Adequate	None
Lessons planned for diverse learners			
Implementation of ongoing assessments			
Lessons support standards/content and topics			
Use of a variety of instructional strategies and activities used to teach lesson			
Evidence of small groups or flexible learning			
Evidence of projects and/or problem–solving activities			
Evidence of student choice activities			
Comments/Explanation:			